

3/26/2015

Page 1

STATE OF MICHIGAN

DETROIT BOARD OF POLICE COMMISSIONERS

REGULAR MEETING

Pages 1 to 63

Taken at 1301 Third Street

Detroit, Michigan

Commencing at 3:00 p.m.

Thursday, March 26, 2015

Before Melinda R. Womack, CSR-3611

1 COMMISSIONERS:

2

3 GEORGE ANTHONY, Secretary

4 WILLIE E. BELL, Chairperson

5 EVA DEWAELESCHE`, Commissioner

6 RICHARD SHELBY, Commissioner

7 JESSICA TAYLOR, Commissioner

8 BISHOP EDGAR VANN, Commissioner

9

10

11 ALSO PRESENT:

12

13 PAMELA DAVIS-DRAKE, Office of the Chief Investigator

14 LINDA BERNARD, Attorney to Board

15 SGT. ALAN QUINN, Recorder

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

1 Detroit, Michigan
2 Thursday, March 26, 2015
3 About 3:00 p.m.

4 CHAIRPERSON BELL: I want to say good
5 afternoon. Good afternoon. Welcome to our weekly
6 meeting of the Board of Police Commission. It's good
7 to see all of you here. I want to say it's best to
8 speak in the mic, but if you move to the front, we've
9 got ample room, you can hear what's going on, but we
10 want to make sure we speak into the mi.

11 If I may, I'm going to ask Bishop Vann for
12 opening prayer to open up the meeting if he would be so
13 kind.

14 (Invocation given)

15 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Commissioner Vann.

16 Once again, I say welcome to weekly meeting.
17 I am your Chair Willie Bell. I'm going to ask that we
18 have a roll call by Board Secretary George Anthony.

19 SECRETARY ANTHONY: Thank you, Mr. Chair.
20 For the record, George Anthony, Secretary to the Board.
21 Commissioner Lisa Carter? Commissioner Willie E.
22 Burton has asked to be excused for this meeting.
23 Commissioner Reginald Crawford has asked to be excused.
24 Commission Eva Dewaelsche?

25 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHÉ: Present.

1 SECRETARY ANTHONY: Commissioner Conrad
2 Mallett has asked to be excused, as has Commissioner
3 Ricardo R. Moore has asked to be excused.

4 Commissioner Richard Shelby?

5 COMMISSIONER SHELBY: Here.

6 SECRETARY ANTHONY: Commissioner Jessica
7 Taylor? Commissioner Bishop Edgar Vann?

8 COMMISSIONER VANN: Present.

9 SECRETARY ANTHONY: Commissioner Donnell R.
10 White?

11 Mr. Chair, you do not have of a quorum at
12 this point.

13 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Okay. At this point we
14 would act is a committee as a whole and move forward
15 with some introduction. Mr. Anthony, would you
16 introduce the staff of the Board of Police Commission,
17 please.

18 SECRETARY ANTHONY: Thank you, sir. Seated
19 in front is our Chief Investigator, Ms. Pamela
20 Davis-Drake from the office of the Chief Investigator.
21 Also seated in front is Ms. Linda Bernard, who is our
22 attorney to the board. We have sergeant Alan Quinn in
23 the back who is recording the proceedings. Mr. Robert
24 Brown, who is our office manager, and Ms. Mindy Womack
25 from Hanson Court Reporting Service. That completes

1 the introduction, sir.

2 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Thank you. It's my
3 privilege to introduce our Assistant Chief, who's
4 sitting in for Chief Craig, the one and only Assistant
5 Chief Lashinda Stair. Did we get it right?

6 A.C. STAIR: You got it right, sir. Thank
7 you very much. I'm still messing it up every now and
8 again, but thank you so much, Commissioner Bell. It's
9 a pleasure to be here this afternoon.

10 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Thank you for your
11 attending, for your ongoing commitment to the Board and
12 people of Detroit.

13 I assume that we would suspend the other
14 issues with the agenda and the minutes until we get a
15 quorum. Is that correct, Mr. Anthony?

16 SECRETARY ANTHONY: That's correct sir, yes.

17 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Okay. Why don't we move
18 briefly to, I guess, my report. I just want to say
19 that we have held a forum on Tuesday night at 7:00
20 hosted by the Missions United Community Organization
21 and it addressed community panel of police
22 accountability and we was very fortunate to have in
23 attendance Commander Bettison from the chief's staff.
24 And so that was good because the question came up in
25 reference to the NPO's. And from there we had Ainsley

1 Cromwell, National Association of Civilian Oversight of
2 Law Enforcement, NACOLE, he was in attendance. And a
3 great dialogue with United States Attorney General for
4 the Eastern District of Michigan, Barbara McQuade.
5 Quite a few questions were posed to her in reference to
6 broad issues dealing with the criminal justice system
7 from the Justice Department to the Wayne County
8 Sheriff, so it was good that she was in attendance.
9 And also Gabe Leland, Detroit City Council Member from
10 District 7. And the former general counsel for Detroit
11 Charter Commission attorney Lamont Satchel, Jr. who
12 represents Carter Commission back when he was in power
13 to address, so he gave the foundation in reference to
14 the major changes, especially as impact the Board of
15 Police Commissioners, the rationale for that. And
16 Lieutenant Shelly Ford, who was one of our top
17 investigators at one time in the police department
18 retired and she's working for Wayne County. And she
19 gave her perspective on that. A young man, community
20 activist young man, we would pray for him in reference
21 to some issues, you know, overall but he had his points
22 in terms of issue dealing with police in general. And
23 Ron Scott Detroit Coalition Against Police Brutality.
24 And yours truly, Willie Bell, and we had Commissioner
25 Shelby in attendance, Commissioner Carla Moore in

1 attendance and our Board Secretary George Anthony, and
2 our attorney to the Board Linda Bernard. And last, but
3 not least, our Chief Investigator Pamela Davis-Drake.
4 Did I miss anyone? But it was a good dialogue in
5 reference to community panel on police accountability
6 and that was our second forum. And I think we shared
7 information in reference to the format.

8 On another note, I had the opportunity to do
9 a follow-up. We had some discussion in reference to
10 interacting with young people and I was at East English
11 Prep Academy High School on the east side of Detroit,
12 which is, for you west siders, from Cadieux and Warren,
13 East Warren. It's the old stomping ground some of you
14 might be Finney High School grads. But that's the
15 area. I think it's been about three years. And it was
16 students from the Business Law class, about 40 young
17 people they have ongoing program with the school. They
18 have cease fired and Wayne County prosecutor's office
19 involved and we talked in terms of our format, and they
20 would welcome opportunity for the board, not just have
21 a general meeting, but what we want to to is focus in
22 on the young people to give them some dialog and we
23 hope to move our 3:00 meeting there in terms of having
24 that particular forum dealing with our young people.
25 It's some bright young people in terms of their

1 attendance and there questions, concerns. And it was
2 about 50/50 in terms of their interactions with the
3 police.

4 As you well know, I think about a year ago
5 they lost a young man in the parking lot. He was not a
6 student but family members were attending school there
7 and the principal and assistance principal, and it was
8 really a good format in terms of interacting. So I'm
9 looking forward to the board of approving shipping our
10 meeting from 3:00 hopefully in the month of April.
11 They out for Easter break coming up, hopefully the
12 month of April before they get into that senior thing
13 in May or June they would welcome that. So I hope to
14 lock in a date and time and come back to this body for
15 approval once we have more interaction with the
16 principal.

17 But I was impressed. It's a brand new
18 building and the students was enthused about the issues
19 there. Even found out they have a golf team. And I
20 said golf team? And the young man, I met the captain.
21 He took me to their wall of, what you call it, trophy.
22 They had a trophy there, DSL Championship. I know Cass
23 had a golf team, Renaissance, but I didn't know in my
24 backyard they have a golf team and they play at
25 Chandler Park and River Rouge. I said that's

1 interesting. You never know until you interact. ROTC.
2 They have other activities there. So it's one of the
3 real jewels on the east side of Detroit. I just wanted
4 to share that with you.

5 So I think it would be a good, good format
6 because the way the school's set up is directly off of
7 Cadieux. The parking lot is all up in front. You
8 don't have to -- if you go over the gym, you have to
9 figure out what door you going to go in. I was
10 thinking this school would be more suitable. We had
11 not last year but the year before last a meeting in the
12 evening hours. So this early forum. They had some
13 interesting dialogue in reference to police. But most
14 of it was positive because some of the officers that
15 work public school security are retired police
16 officers, so that type of interaction. And it's a
17 great deal of curiosity. So on that note, that is my
18 brief report to the Body.

19 I guess the next item would be OCI monthly
20 update report from our Chief Investigator Drake.

21 C.I. DAVIS-DRAKE: Thank you, Mr. Chair. For
22 the record, Pamela Davis-Drake Chief Investigator.

23 All right. The citizen Complaint Report for
24 February 2015 is as follows: The monthly count of
25 complaints, 55, which is a 43% decrease from last year

1 at the same time when we had 97 complaints. At the end
2 of February 2015 the Office of the Chief Investigator
3 had open investigations 135, cases filed 130, and close
4 year to date 187 cases. Of the 55 cases filed, 45%
5 involved unknown officers, and I believe you will have
6 a chart in your packets denoting the unknown officers.
7 The known units involved leading and complaints filed
8 in February 2015 were as follows: 9th Precinct at 9%,
9 the 11th Precinct at 7%, and the 2nd and 8th Precinct
10 at 5%.

11 The 55 cases filed February 2015 involved 100
12 allegations where the leading areas of concern were
13 demeanor at 31%, procedure at 23%, service at 14%, and
14 force at 10%. And there is nothing notable about that.
15 Those are usually the leading allegations.

16 Of the 102 cases filed in February of 2015
17 there were 206 allegations and the findings were as
18 follows: Not sustained 40%, exonerated 18%, unfounded
19 17%, and sustained 12%. The leading areas of concern
20 in those 102 cases closed were as follows: Procedure
21 at 38%, demeanor at 21%, force at 13%, and service at
22 9%.

23 We currently have 121 open cases in the
24 office. Fourteen cases have been processed and
25 reviewed for cases closure, and we have no cases over

1 90 days. And that concludes my report.

2 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Commissioners, questions?
3 concerns?

4 COMMISSIONER VANN: Just one question, Mr.
5 Chairman. I'm very happy to see that you don't have
6 any cases that are still out there. That's great work.
7 What is the direct correlation, or is there any
8 correlation, between a decrease, such a dramatic
9 decrease of complaints and anything different happening
10 on the streets? I mean how do you quantify that? Do
11 you quantify it by saying we're doing a better job or
12 people are just not complaining as much or people are
13 tired of complaining or what do you attribute it to?

14 C.I. DAVIS-DRAKE: Well that's an age-old
15 question. Actually I knew someone would ask that today
16 and, unfortunately, we don't have -- there are lots of
17 variables that are involved, but I certainly like to
18 think one of them is the fact that we do have officers
19 that are out there that are performing their duties
20 well and servicing the public well, you know. During
21 the time of the Consent Decree, a lot of procedures,
22 policies went forth and it was to better the community
23 and better the interaction between the officers and the
24 safety of the public and I think that's happening.

25 Also I think it is somewhat seasonal. I

1 think that during the winter months we don't receive as
2 many complaints. During the summer months they tend to
3 increase. So we're just keeping an eye on it. The
4 numbers have been progressively decreasing over the
5 last five years. For the last three, we've gotten
6 around 1300 complaints a year. Prior to that 2007
7 through 2009 we were getting as many as 1700, 1500. At
8 one time we were at 2000.

9 So I think that there are a lot of variables.
10 I don't know if we can put our finger on just one.
11 More information for the public. The public is much
12 more aware of the process now. So I don't think that
13 lack of knowledge is an issue. I just think that there
14 are probably a number of factors. I don't think I can
15 pinpoint anything in particular, sir, but we're
16 certainly keeping an eye on it, but that's a good
17 question, and it's a question that the department and I
18 have been looking at for a while.

19 A.C. STAIR: Through the Chair. I would also
20 just like to add that I think training is the key piece
21 of the puzzle and we try to get a little bit deeper as
22 it relates to customer service. So as it relates to
23 the demeanor and procedure, specifically, those two
24 particularly where we run high, I think we have
25 well-trained police officers. Those things kind of

1 change. And then the customer service piece is just
2 talking to people. We know that that's half the battle
3 right there, talking to people in a respectful manner.
4 I think we're doing a better job of that. And like the
5 Chief Investigator indicated, there are a lot of
6 different policies that came into sight over the last
7 few years, consent judgement and people are following
8 policy a bit more now.

9 CHAIRPERSON BELL: I just want to say, Chief
10 Investigator Drake, I think that one of the things I
11 drew, and hopefully Commissioner Shelby when he attends
12 the Roseville forum tonight, always try to get feedback
13 from the community, what's their impression, attitude,
14 positive/negative. And even the young people and a
15 couple young people said what was positive that the
16 officer actually rolled down their window and said hi,
17 how you doing today. I mean you take something like
18 that simple that's a whole lot to do in terms of
19 relationship with young people, speaking to people, you
20 know. I said wow, that was nice, you know, because we
21 have the other encounter, but that was nice. So I
22 appreciate, you know, that we need to get some
23 feedback.

24 But overall, it's been really upbeat, you
25 know, in the last year or so, you know, in reference to

1 our relationship with the Police Department, not just
2 the status quo, you know, but the community, getting
3 feedback from them. So I always try to solicit that,
4 tell me something positive and something negative.
5 Let's speak the truth here. So thank you. Any other?

6 C.I. DAVIS-DRAKE: Thank you, sir.

7 CHAIRPERSON BELL: I just want to mention
8 that in the forum Ms. Pannell was also in attendance.
9 Thank you for your attendance and also your e-mail
10 bless. That was helpful. So we appreciate you.

11 And I guess we can move to the Assistant
12 Chief. Do you want to introduce? I see the Deputy
13 Chief here, one of your commanders and others in the
14 audience. Lieutenant in the back. Move right into
15 your report.

16 A.C. STAIR: Thank you very much. Sir,
17 present we have our legal adviser Celia Banks
18 Washington. We have Sergeant Shell, who works on my
19 staff, Curtis Shell. Commander Deshaune Sims. I'm
20 sorry, I don't have my glasses on. Deshaune Sims.
21 Director Hayes tech support who will be doing the
22 presentation. Sergeant Perkins and Jack Fennessey, are
23 you going to be presenting anything else as well? And
24 in the back is Lieutenant Elaine Miles from our office
25 as well, the neighborhood. Thank you.

1 DIRECTOR HAYES: Afternoon everyone. Thank
2 you for your time this afternoon to give the
3 presentation. To give a little description, background
4 of the technical support, Technical Services Bureau for
5 the Detroit Police Department. I'm director Scott
6 Hayes and some of the functions that we perform is we
7 look at the technology both the instruction and the
8 application. So that's what we maintain, we design, we
9 install and maintain it to make sure that the Detroit
10 Police Department is up and running consistently.

11 We also have the Citywide Security Systems,
12 Integrated Public Safety Software System is which we're
13 currently updating with the help of the city, ITS and
14 Beth Niblock. We maintain the Public Safety Radio
15 System, which is the current 800 megahertz system. The
16 desktops, the in-car computers, the day-to-day just
17 support, the desktop support. The in-car body cameras,
18 the in-car cameras along with new pilot that we're
19 starting off with body camera video. We also take a
20 look at developing new technologies. We watch, we
21 watch a patterns of what's out there, the software that
22 is there. Anything that we can bring in to on the
23 support services side to help with crime reduction and
24 just improve the process of Detroit Police Department.

25 So the technology infrastructure we're

1 talking about the servers, the network, design,
2 connection from precincts and mobile users to the cars,
3 and also the wireless. So we have mobile command posts
4 that go out into the field to bring that technology to
5 those mobile commands post and where the users need
6 that out in the field.

7 The application install and support, a lot of
8 it just mostly like your general applications on the
9 desktops. We go from group-wise, which is our e-mail
10 support Microsoft Office. And we have a lot of
11 customized databases with user front-ends that we have
12 specialized needs within the police department from the
13 different bureaus.

14 Citywide Access with Video Control. There's
15 quite a large footprint in the city. It's not only
16 this building with all the access and the cameras,
17 we're also in the Coleman A. Young Municipal Center.
18 Some in the Detroit Communication Center, City Airport,
19 the Detroit Detention Center and also Hart Plaza. Not
20 only with access, we also to the video. So the video
21 interviews and interrogations that go on, we handle the
22 video and maintain the integrity of that video as well.

23 The Public Safety 800 Radio System that goes
24 across police, fire, EMS and also multiple city, other
25 city, GSD. There's nine tower sites within the city.

1 There are two communication centers. The main is out
2 at Lyndon Detroit Communication, and a new
3 communication will be soon up here in this building as
4 well. We monitor that 24/7 at mission-critical,
5 obviously infrastructure and the applications so we
6 have a full team monitoring that along with the help of
7 the vendor as well.

8 Desktop in the in-car support, we do that for
9 both fire, police and EMS. That is out at Lyndon. We
10 have the technical garage and the technical staff out
11 there that handles the radios for the in-cars, and also
12 we have a team that goes out for desktops. There's
13 over 1500 desktops within the Detroit Police
14 Department, so on a day-to-day basis we make sure that
15 those are up and running, up and running for the
16 investigators, for the chief, the chief staff just to
17 make sure everybody gets their job done proficiently.

18 The in-car camera and body worn, again, we've
19 been in the in-car systems for many years now. We're
20 in the process of upgrading our current version to the
21 newer model. We handle the offload of the video and we
22 keep that on site. What that does it protects -- where
23 we see the biggest help with that is protect against
24 assault allegation against police officers, and also
25 officer accountability as well to make sure the

1 officers are doing the correct for policies and
2 procedures out in the field.

3 You've heard a lot of the in-car -- I'm
4 sorry, the on-body systems. We're in the middle of the
5 pilot project of the very first one, and we still have
6 two more to do. So that's kind of the in the progress
7 project.

8 So also develop and implement new
9 technologies. Some of the things that we just
10 implemented I know that the property in evidence
11 personnel came up and gave a presentation with new
12 Tracker evidence system. We are able to increase
13 proficiency down there. Some of the areas that we've
14 increased in that area is unremarkable. That team has
15 taken that, ran with that project, and again, it's
16 unremarkable the progress that they made.

17 We've talked about the body-cam video, the
18 public safety software. We're in the middle of the RFP
19 to choose a fully integrated from police, fire, to CAD,
20 to mobile, to field reporting to make us state of the
21 are, to increase our processes, our data collection, to
22 better help the investigators or just the officers out
23 in the field.

24 We're also looking at the Realtime Crime
25 Center standing that up to be more of a proactive on

1 the police with the technology. Things happening in
2 the field we can immediately respond and put assets
3 there. Ready-Op is a notification so if there's
4 immediate notification for the emergency operations
5 that are standing up, that's what we use that for.
6 We're in the process of upgrading preps and mobiles in
7 the radios.

8 The current infrastructure is approximately
9 ten years old. We'll be replacing that over the next
10 couple years as well, along with just the upgrading
11 Public Safety Network in general. We're constantly
12 looking at it. We're on the three-year replacement
13 plan. So that's what we look at on a day-to-day basis.
14 That is the technical Services Bureau. Is there any
15 questions?

16 COMMISSIONER SHELBY: Through the Chair.
17 Have you looked at the technology that allows the
18 supervisor in the station to see what the video-cams
19 and the body-cams are transmitting?

20 DIRECTOR HAYES: So when a car pulls into the
21 station now, it uploads the video automatically. So
22 whenever a car reaches the station, that's the realtime
23 we're getting to. At this point, that's what we can do
24 right now. What we're looking at is the current
25 technology that's developing for the supervisors to be

1 able to view what is going on currently in the field.
2 We are looking into that.

3 COMMISSIONER VANN: Thank you for your
4 presentation. How do you archive all of the footage
5 that you're receiving?

6 DIRECTOR HAYES: We're just talking about the
7 video?

8 COMMISSIONER VANN: Yes.

9 DIRECTOR HAYES: Like I just mentioned, when
10 the car pulls into the station, whatever precinct that
11 pulls into there's upload stations. So there's
12 wireless networks set up in the parking lot. They
13 download the video through high speed, and we archive
14 that all at Lyndon. And we have a 90-day retention
15 policy unless an investigator or somebody goes in to
16 mark that, then it can be indefinite.

17 COMMISSIONER VANN: So you only hold on to
18 them for 90 days.

19 DIRECTOR HAYES: Correct, unless there's a
20 request to extend that.

21 COMMISSIONER SHELBY: Through the Chair. You
22 also talked about upgrading the prep level radio. Will
23 the new radios have a GPS capability where you can
24 actually see where the officer is?

25 DIRECTOR HAYES: They will have, but our cars

1 have that as well now so we know where the officers are
2 at. They're monitored. The office safety is
3 monitored. So we are monitoring their GPS locations as
4 we speak.

5 COMMISSIONER SHELBY: Through the vehicles,
6 though, not through the prep radio.

7 DIRECTOR HAYES: Correct. The preps will
8 have that functionality. It's just getting through the
9 pieces to getting into what user display and things
10 like that.

11 COMMISSIONER DEWAEELSCHÉ: Mr. Chair, I have a
12 question. Thank you. How does our technology compare
13 with other major cities and their police forces?

14 DIRECTOR HAYES: Prior to the bankruptcy we
15 were about 10 to 15 years outdated. Once we started
16 this process with the bankruptcy and started
17 prioritizing things, we are making great advancements
18 at a very fast pace to be state of the art. I would
19 say within the next 24 months with the replacement of
20 the Public Safety Software System and implementation of
21 Realtime Crime Center we'll be on the leading edge?

22 COMMISSIONER DEWAEELSCHÉ: So really it's just
23 been a few months that we're upgrading our technology
24 if you say right after bankruptcy.

25 DIRECTOR HAYES: Well I would say that's been

1 probably in the last 18 months. There's been a few
2 pilot projects where we started with electronic
3 warrants giving mobile technology to investigators out
4 in the field, allow them to be doing search warrants
5 from curbside instead of having to go back to the
6 office and then run to the court. So we've been making
7 great strides I would say over the last 18 to 24
8 months, but you'll see the, really the major changes
9 coming within the next 24 months because of the
10 funding.

11 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHÉ: And Mr. Chair, I do
12 have one or two more questions. So you indicated that
13 we have a policy of three year -- you indicated after
14 three years you'll look at upgrading again? Isn't that
15 a long time in technology years, or whatever you want
16 to call it? Technology, you know, like needs to be
17 upgraded constantly and so. . .

18 DIRECTOR HAYES: So every day we watch what's
19 going on and look at the new vendors with what they're
20 coming out in technology. So on the technology side,
21 we're looking at that daily. The replacement plan is
22 for the network switchers, the services, the desktop.
23 So that's the replacement plan so we're not going to be
24 sitting with the ten-year-old desktops sitting on the
25 investigator's desk and waiting 20 minutes for it just

1 to boot up anymore. So that's the three-year
2 replacement plan that we're looking at just for, you
3 know, the hardware and the infrastructure. But the
4 day-to-day technology, we look at that daily.

5 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: And just a final
6 question. There was a partnership that was developed
7 with public lighting to do, I forget what the name of
8 it is, but to identify areas where shots were fired.

9 DIRECTOR HAYES: Shot Spotter.

10 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: How is that going,
11 and can you give us an update on it, or has it been
12 implemented?

13 DIRECTOR HAYES: So Shot Spotter is
14 implemented in a particular area within the city that
15 has then been turned over to the enforcement, for
16 enforcement section to handle. That I do not have a
17 report out on.

18 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: So you wouldn't have
19 control over that part of it?

20 DIRECTOR HAYES: Well not the enforcement.
21 So on the technology side when it was installed, we
22 were giving the cellular tablets with all the
23 applications installed. So when they're out there in
24 the field, instead of waiting for dispatch to get the
25 run to give them pinpoint, we put the technology into

1 their hands so they can see it as it was happening.

2 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: So is that a pilot
3 or is that something we're going to implement across
4 the city?

5 A.C. STAIR: Through the Chair. That's
6 something that we were given, if I'm not mistaken,
7 right, however. So now there's discussions as to
8 whether or not we will move on. And at that point we
9 will have to find funding in order to cover it. And so
10 now we're evaluating whether or not it is something
11 that we want to do as a department.

12 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Thank you. Thank
13 you, Mr. Chair.

14 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Any other questions or
15 comments?

16 COMMISSIONER SHELBY: Through the Chair.
17 Certain individuals are establishing cameras in the
18 downtown area. Are those cameras going to be
19 integrated into the system where the Detroit Police get
20 information off them?

21 DIRECTOR HAYES: Yes. That's part of the
22 Realtime Crime Center Project. There's a very large
23 footprint. And we're not only talking the downtown
24 area, we're also talking out in the neighborhoods with
25 gas stations to be able to view that video realtime

1 when an incident happens. So yes, we are moving
2 forward with that.

3 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Would you state your name
4 and pose your questions please.

5 MR. JOHNSON: Good afternoon. My name is Don
6 Johnson. I'm president of the 12th Precinct Community
7 Relations Committee, and I just have a simple question
8 as regards to ergonomics, fit and function. I know
9 that Ford and GM and Chrysler have downsized their
10 vehicles, and the vehicles -- and this may not be your
11 area, but the vehicles that we are currently using for
12 police department, I don't know how they get them in and
13 out of those vehicles with all the equipment that they
14 have on them. And there's no more full size Chevrolets
15 and Fords like we used to use back in the day. And are
16 we looking at something alternative, because over in
17 Europe, you remember the old taxis, the big old taxis
18 that we had back in the day? They still use those for
19 certain fit and function areas so that people can do
20 their job. But you look at the Impalas, you look at
21 the Taurus, you look the Chrysler Chargers, they're
22 called now full-sized vehicles, but for our police
23 officers with all the equipment they got on them to get
24 in and out of their vehicles, that's a challenge for
25 us. And I think we need to look at something to help

1 them get a little more space, especially with all
2 computes and the other stuff they got inside the
3 vehicle. And plus, they got to put maybe a criminal or
4 two in the seat. Thank you.

5 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Thank you.

6 DIRECTOR HAYES: I can answer part of that
7 question. We do have a fleet, a fleet section for the
8 police department, and they would probably better to
9 answer on how we choose the models of the vehicles.
10 But once the model is chosen, we go then and look at
11 the technology that we're fitting into that vehicle.
12 There's all kinds of compliances that we look for and
13 standards that we have to fit for the safety of the
14 officers that are in the vehicle. So laptop, you just
15 can't put a laptop in there and put it wherever we want
16 because we have to be airbag compliant. We're very
17 conscious of that, so we outfit the technology of it
18 with that. And again, I completely agree with the way
19 the vehicles are coming out, they're getting smaller
20 and smaller. But I don't have the ability to answer
21 that. That's another division.

22 MR. JOHNSON: Thank you.

23 A.C. STAIR: Through the Chair. Yes, sir.
24 Certainly we try to go with industry standards as it
25 relates to vehicles. I don't have a problem getting in

1 and out of them, but I'm sure some of the taller,
2 larger, taller people like Scott up there, there may.
3 But generally we look at industry standards. I don't
4 know, and I can look into whether or not we consider
5 those things, because most of the scout cars are not
6 like the Focus. And then the Taurus is actually a
7 pretty large vehicle. But then I would hope that, and
8 if we don't, something that we could do is maybe get
9 different sized people to sit in the cars to kind of
10 figure out, you know, which ones work best for us. And
11 certainly funding is also associated with that issue as
12 well.

13 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Any other comments? I'd
14 like to pose a question to the Chief Investigator.
15 What is the interaction with us during our
16 investigation with in-car camera? Has that improved?
17 I know I'm speaking yesterday, but I'm talking about
18 you can give us update in terms of how that's working
19 out.

20 C.I. DRAKE: Yes, sir. It has improved. I
21 don't have the statistics in front of me, but I can
22 provide it for you for the next meeting. But yes, it
23 has improved. The number of vehicles that are
24 equipped. We got a lot more new vehicles that are
25 going to be equipped. The actual video footage is

1 clear. We're getting better sound. Still some work,
2 but they're working on it.

3 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Thank you for that
4 feedback.

5 DIRECTOR HAYES: And just to add to that is
6 instead of the investigators having to make a request,
7 they have direct access to the system. The technical
8 services staff went over and trained all the
9 investigators so they have direct access and assist to
10 be able to do what they need out of.

11 CHAIRPERSON BELL: That's quite positive.

12 C.I. DRAKE: Mr. Chairman, we kind of always
13 had that access to all the equipment that's in the cars
14 that are currently there. Even the old data 911.
15 Before that, it was the Insight. We had Insight and we
16 had access to it. So the department has always given
17 us access to the video footage. Also for the precincts
18 and so forth, we always have access to video footage if
19 it's available, just depends on the timing and how long
20 it actually stays in the system, but we do have
21 abscess.

22 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Good working relationship.
23 That's went I want to hear.

24 C.I. DRAKE: Absolutely.

25 CHAIRPERSON BELL: I just want to pause and

1 acknowledge Commissioner Jessica Taylor has joined us
2 at this time.

3 COMMISSIONER SHELBY: One last question. When
4 we look at technology as it relates to the in-car
5 video, when the officers ride down the street, it
6 automatically reads the license plates, look for wanted
7 vehicles or stolen vehicles?

8 DIRECTOR HAYES: So we did have two pilot
9 projects with two cars for LPR, license plate
10 recognition. We are starting to with the Realtime
11 Crime Center Project expand on that, not only with the
12 vehicles, but also fixed units as well.

13 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Thank you, Mr. Hayes. You
14 are the technical person.

15 DIRECTOR HAYES: Yes, I am.

16 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Okay. Thank you. I'm
17 aware.

18 I guess at this time, Assistant Chief, any
19 further report on behalf of the Chief?

20 A.C. STAIR: No, no further report. I have
21 an announcement at the end.

22 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Okay. I failed to mention
23 that I attended on Monday evening here in this room at
24 5:30 the Citizen's Police Academy. Is that the name?

25 A.C. STAIR: Yes. The Citizen Police Academy

1 has started.

2 CHAIRPERSON BELL: They had 40 attendees.

3 A.C. STAIR: Actually, I think it was more
4 like 47. They start trickling in as we started.

5 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Right, right, right. I
6 was really impressed on Monday evening, and I guess
7 it's going to be an eight-week series.

8 A.C. STAIR: Eight-week series.

9 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Six weeks here and two
10 weeks of training, inservice training in some other
11 location. So I was really impressed by that type of --
12 and I guess it was -- they had to cut off. Other folks
13 wanted to attend, they had to catch the next class.

14 A.C. STAIR: That's right.

15 CHAIRPERSON BELL: So that was great, Board
16 Chair an opportunity to interact with the people. I
17 said we'll be back in terms of -- I was just impressed
18 with that type of attendance.

19 A.C. STAIR: That whole project put together
20 by Commander Bettison and Lieutenant Miles and the
21 Chief, and they did a great job.

22 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Thank you, Commander
23 Bettison and Lieutenant Miles. We know he's well
24 thought of. We found that out at the counselor
25 meeting. And I was glad that he attended our forum

1 because question came up and he interacted, so that was
2 great.

3 Standing committee reports or subcommittee
4 reports? Any new business? We don't have a quorum no
5 way. So any old business. I always discuss the issue
6 about our interaction in the high school and the month
7 of April. The next meeting will be Thursday, April 2nd
8 at 3:00. And we had some conversation in reference to
9 moving that meeting timeframe up 2:00. We have a
10 strategy session in that timeframe from 2 to 6. That
11 was a great deal of dialog. Commissioner Vann, you
12 were not present. We wanted to move it up, and perhaps
13 if we can get a consensus at this meeting here by just
14 nodding, and then we can poll. The dialogue was really
15 to have that strategy session and take advantage of the
16 individuals that was here. They normally come at 2:00.
17 Move up one hour and have a short condensed meeting,
18 but then reconvene to do this training and strategy
19 session, and that's basically after we met, you know,
20 have that type of discussion. So I think we all here
21 except for you in terms of we were agreeable to that.
22 So perhaps what we can do is get a consensus here and
23 convey by e-mail process that we can communicate to the
24 public, to chief office, everybody that we're not going
25 to really have a formal meeting, but we'll convene at

1 2:00 and compliance and then we would just shortly
2 afterwards go into the session. So it won't be a full
3 agenda.

4 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHÉ: Mr. Chair, were we
5 talking about having a regular meeting at 3:00 or now?

6 CHAIRPERSON BELL: No. We're going to move
7 our meeting to 2:00 and not have a regular meeting.

8 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHÉ: At all.

9 CHAIRPERSON BELL: At all.

10 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHÉ: Okay.

11 CHAIRPERSON BELL: No, but we would have a
12 regular meeting but not in terms of full agenda. Am I
13 explaining that correctly what we're attempting to do.
14 So that was the consensus. And we had looked at
15 Saturday I think if we can agree in that time, but this
16 is Holy Thursday before Good Friday, and we're normally
17 going to have light attendance anyway in that
18 timeframe, so we wanted to take advantage of that. And
19 it's been a while for the last three months almost, so
20 we're trying to get this session in and it sort of fit
21 our training education process that we're trying to do.

22 COMMISSIONER VANN: What day? What time is
23 that?

24 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Next week April 2nd.

25 COMMISSIONER VANN: Next Thursday?

1 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Next Thursday. We get did
2 the majority -- we did Phase 1 we had lower attendance,
3 but we achieved a lot in that timeframe. So we want to
4 do Phase 2. And I know people have busy schedules. We
5 talked about Saturday morning, et cetera. But we look
6 at this attendees you know at our 3:00 meeting and talk
7 about trying to be a little creative in terms of
8 perhaps scheduling another 3:00 meeting in the
9 community versus here. For some people reason, people
10 not coming. And we want to do more public awareness
11 like when we go to East English Prep School that be a
12 brief meeting, but the focal point will be young people
13 talking to us in terms of we have an established
14 format. So that's something that we're trying to
15 resolve. And some other meeting might be in another
16 location in that month, so we still have the 6:30
17 meeting, so maybe perhaps we can get a consensus if
18 everybody is agreeable at this time. We have five
19 commissioners.

20 COMMISSIONER VANN: Thank you for that.

21 CHAIRPERSON BELL: And our next community
22 meeting would be held in the 11th Precinct on April
23 9th, Galilee Missionary Baptist Church. That's at 5251
24 East Outer Drive on the east side, northeastern
25 Detroit. And that's a Reverend Chapman. He's the

1 pastor of the church. And I hope to interact with him
2 prior to see if we can get more support on that church
3 base since we're going to be in this church in that
4 area. So we're looking forward to that interaction so
5 that would be a blessing if we could get cooperation
6 from the pastor in terms of encouraging his minister to
7 attend.

8 The next item. We do not have a quorum.

9 SECRETARY ANTHONY: Mr. Chair, if I may. I
10 just want to put it in the record that Commissioner
11 Lisa Carter asked to be excused.

12 THE COURT: Okay. Thank you. Thank you.

13 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Oral communication from
14 the audience. As you well know, you have two minutes.
15 We request that you be respectful because we are
16 respectful to you. Just give your full name and title
17 and we'll take it from there.

18 MR. PICCIONE: My name is Nicholas Piccone.
19 I represent several of the town companies that work out
20 of the City of Detroit. I'm not here to talk about
21 towing. I'm here to talk about my experience I had
22 with the cadets and training and the Police Academy. I
23 have the chance of having to go over to the Police
24 Training Academy usually every other week to go speak
25 with resource management regarding towing and other

1 issues out there. So when I was out today I decided to
2 park off to the grass. And I subsequently got my car
3 completely stuck in mud. And I was able to be freed by
4 nine different cadets from the 15-C. I don't know what
5 they call that. But that was their class. Make sure
6 it's 15-C. So I told them I'd come and see you. I go
7 to the meetings ever week and I never speak, but I said
8 I would go and tell you guys through the Chair that
9 they did a wonderful job, and I really appreciate it.
10 They came out and they were fully dressed. They were
11 completely professional and they still helped me push
12 my little car out of the mud. They weren't afraid to
13 get in that dirt, so I appreciate that. I thought
14 you'd want to know that.

15 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Thank you for sharing
16 that.

17 A.C. STAIR: Thank you for sharing.

18 MS. SLAY: Good afternoon. My name is Mahala
19 Slay, and I had a home invasion February 11th. And I
20 just wanted to know, I hear the officer talking about
21 your technology, and I'm just wondering about your
22 technology to take fingerprints, because they did catch
23 the two guys who were in my house. We had an
24 eyewitness. The incident happened about 3 -- well
25 police had it written down 3:33 in the afternoon. When

1 they came to get fingerprints, they didn't come until
2 around 9, which was very very cold. But I didn't board
3 my house up because the officer said they want to take
4 fingerprints.

5 Now it was a mess. They had to go through a
6 window. They had to go through two doors to get into
7 the room where they were, where they went, and there
8 were no fingerprints. But we did get the guys, they
9 did get the guys. Now these men, these young men are
10 out. They're being very bold. They know how to get in
11 my house now. They know, they know my house. Only
12 thing they took was jewelry. But now they didn't take
13 the TV's and the computers. Now they know how to get
14 in my house and they are very bold. So I want to know
15 how can the police department protect us. I have a
16 feeling that in my neighborhood, and I talked to
17 people, there's been three break-ins since my house.
18 It would seem to us, some of us, that our police
19 department is maybe helping our neighborhoods to be
20 abandoned because people said I can't get any help.
21 Police catch someone and let them go. So now what I
22 need to do is just move to a safer neighborhood. And
23 so these criminals that's coming in, they're just
24 coming in and moving people out.

25 And also I was told that if you don't see the

1 person, and I had a witness, but he saw them come out
2 of my driveway. He knew the clothes that they had on.
3 He knew the house that they went in, and they brought
4 them out and they arrested them. But he didn't see
5 there. Was that a law? You got to actually see the
6 person go in the house and catch them in the act.
7 That's my question.

8 CHAIRPERSON BELL: I think Assistant Chief
9 Stair can respond.

10 A.C. STAIR: Yes, sir. And I'm sorry because
11 Celia was talking to me halfway through, ma'am, your
12 information that you brought forward today. So are you
13 saying that your house was broken into? There were no
14 fingerprints or the officers did not find any
15 fingerprints?

16 MS. SLAY: That's what they said.

17 A.C. STAIR: Okay. But the gentlemen, or not
18 gentlemen, were actually caught who broke into your
19 home. And then what occurred? I apologize.

20 MS. SLAY: They was let go. They kept them
21 for about three days. And I was told that they let
22 them go because my witness said, the witness they
23 didn't get in touch with me at all. All I just knew
24 that the guys was back in the house, which is right
25 down the street from me. As a matter of fact, across

1 the street from me three doors.

2 My witness sold his house and he was back
3 here closing the deal. He told the police that he
4 was -- this was happening on a -- this happened on a
5 Wednesday. He told them that he was going back to
6 Georgia on Friday. So they had time to question him if
7 they needed anymore information. But I didn't get
8 anything. All I saw is the guys was back. And then I
9 went to the police station and they told me that they
10 had to have an eyewitness in order to charge them.

11 A.C. STAIR: Because there were no
12 fingerprints. What precinct are you in?

13 MS. SLAY: 12th Precinct.

14 A.C. STAIR: If I could have Sergeant Shell
15 talk to you to get a little bit more information so he
16 can do a bit of his own investigation to determine kind
17 of what actually transpired. Through the course of the
18 investigation. If you could talk to him, Sergeant
19 Shell right there. Hopefully we'll be able to bring
20 some resolution. I'm not really sure because there
21 were no fingerprints and, unfortunately, no eyewitness
22 or at least no eyewitness information that was
23 provided.

24 MS. SLAY: But the witness that saw them
25 coming out of my driveway, it would seem to me that

1 that was an eyewitness. He described the boys. He
2 knew their clothes. They actually went to the house.
3 They actually handcuffed those guys, and they actually
4 took them to the police station.

5 A.C. STAIR: Okay. Sergeant Shell, would you
6 help? Thank you.

7 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Thank you, ma'am.

8 Assistant Chief, would it be -- if we could
9 give the young lady some special attention, I think
10 that would go a long way in terms of I guess the
11 perpetrator live a couple blocks, a couple houses from
12 her.

13 A.C. STAIR: Down the street.

14 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Down the street.
15 Something like that.

16 A.C. STAIR: Yes, sir.

17 CHAIRPERSON BELL: I understand the whole
18 concept, but if we could reach out, I think it would
19 reassure her.

20 A.C. STAIR: Absolutely.

21 MR. JOHNSON: If I may, we are doing that
22 already, special attention. I wanted the Assistant
23 Chief to know that and people in the neighborhood. Don
24 Johnson again. 12th Precinct. We're doing that from a
25 standpoint of we've already requested special

1 attention. We're going to get that as the 12th
2 Precinct is very accommodating. I got a community
3 organization, Schaefer 78 Lodge Association because we
4 know that these gentlemen are responsible for about
5 four or five break-ins in the area. The problem is
6 getting an eyewitness and catching them. The problem
7 with this incident was that we had an eyewitness, but
8 he saw them coming out of the back of the house, not
9 inside, but down the driveway. And he identified them
10 by their clothing. And they had a pillowcase with
11 them, okay? And when they told them where they were,
12 they went down the street and arrested them and what
13 have you. Took them to the precinct and held them for
14 a couple days. But because the eyewitness didn't see
15 them in the house.

16 CHAIRPERSON BELL: We understand.

17 MR. JOHNSON: So I just wanted to make you
18 aware.

19 CHAIRPERSON BELL: We understand. But when
20 you're a victim, it's hard. Mr. Johnson, I'm glad that
21 you're engaging the resident in your area, you're
22 working with her and hopefully we can give her some
23 peace and tranquility, and that's difficult sometimes.
24 We're going to try our best.

25 MR. JOHNSON: Yes, sir. Thank you.

1 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Ms. Pannell.

2 MS. PANSELL: Good afternoon. Sharon
3 Pannell. I'm confused about the meeting time next
4 week. Is it still 3:00 or are you changing the time?

5 CHAIRPERSON BELL: We are going to change the
6 time to 2 p.m. It will be a brief meeting at 2:00.

7 MS. PANSELL: For the community too.

8 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Yes, for the community
9 too. So if there's something pressing, come at 2:00
10 and we'll make sure you get an opportunity if you want
11 to share something with us at 2:00. Is that okay?

12 MS. PANSELL: That's fine with me. I'm
13 retired.

14 CHAIRPERSON BELL: And we will do through the
15 Board Secretary circulate that information out in
16 reference to. I know you faithfully attend. We'll
17 make sure that you understand that that would be the
18 format.

19 MS. PANSELL: Okay. Thank you.

20 MS. PETERSON: My name is Carolyn Peterson.
21 I live in the 7th District. And I wanted to elaborate
22 on the kindness of the police. Are they going to be
23 doing it in all districts like rolling down their
24 windows and saying hi? Because that would scare my
25 young folks because when they see the police, they like

1 run. So I'd like to warn them if the police are going
2 to be nice, I'd like to give them a heads-up.

3 CHAIRPERSON BELL: What precinct?

4 MS. PETERSON: I live in the 7th Precinct.
5 The Winthrop area, Chicago. Because I have been
6 stopped three boys and myself. Since I cut my hair,
7 they have pulled me over thinking it was four. When
8 they see me smile with earrings, they let us go, so I
9 know what the young men are up against. So I can let
10 them know, you are going to be a little kind.

11 And then about this other incident about the
12 police beating up the guy on TV. I'm trying to tell
13 them that's not Detroit, right? Inkster. Well the
14 news says that's Detroit, but I'm trying to keep peace
15 in my area as long as you guys going to work with me.
16 Okay. Thank you.

17 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Thank you. Your precinct
18 is the 2nd Precinct?

19 MS. PETERSON: 7th Precinct. The 7th
20 Precinct has one of the nicest, gentlest captains in
21 the department. It's on Southfield and Plymouth.

22 CHAIRPERSON BELL: We'll make sure the
23 Assistant Chief is going to reach out to the Captain
24 and hopefully, you know, especially with the weather
25 getting warm we can wave and interact, and I'm pretty

1 sure they do that already. We'll make sure that they
2 have that type of presence, you know. Thank you.

3 Yes, sir.

4 MR. WILBOURN: Afternoon, Board. Bill
5 Wilbourn. In the last few weeks I had a lot of calls
6 about the school safety zones. About three four years
7 ago we had a meeting at Cody where we first started
8 with the School Safety Zone over there, set it up over
9 there. That was the first school they had. Is that
10 Osborne, the one on Kelly Road over there? Is that
11 Osborne?

12 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Denby High School.

13 MR. WILBOURN: East side. Denby. Anyway is
14 that still in effect? The one at Cody they set it up
15 for Cody from Southfield to Evergreen, Joy to Chicago
16 inside that zone, it was a safe zone, and I forgot the
17 one over at Denby. But is that still going on, because
18 I haven't heard anything about it. I've been off of it
19 for about -- I know it happened about three years ago.

20 CHAIRPERSON BELL: The assistant Chief is
21 going to respond.

22 A.C. STAIR: Sir, I'm not really sure.
23 There's several different programs that we have for
24 safety of the children that's going back and forth from
25 our schools. I'm not really sure if the one that

1 you're discussing is the same thing. We could find out
2 for you if necessary. I don't know if you had contact
3 with anybody from DPS either, but from our end, I could
4 find out. But I need to I guess understand a little
5 bit more what that specific program was and what they
6 did.

7 MR. WILBOURN: This is the one that Martha
8 Evans was working on. She since had to quit because
9 her husband moved and they moved to Chicago. Martha
10 was working on that, the principals and a couple other
11 people, and I was on the thing too.

12 A.C. STAIR: Lieutenant Miles, can you speak
13 with Mr. Wilbourn or come up and speak as it relates to
14 what he's referring to.

15 CHAIRPERSON BELL: It's still in effect.

16 LIEUTENANT MILES: Through the Chair, I think
17 you're talking about Operation Safe Passage. That is
18 something that the Mayor's Office is collaborating with
19 DPS as well as Detroit. So that is something that
20 they're still doing.

21 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Okay. I know when people
22 call me, I can give an answer.

23 LIEUTENANT MILES: Lieutenant Elaine Miles
24 for the record.

25 MR. RHODES: Good afternoon. My name is

1 Peter Rhodes. I've been before this board a few times.
2 I was here last week and I pointed out that the City of
3 Detroit Police Department's giving tickets to try to
4 take care of a scalping problem, but the tickets are
5 for vending on the street without a license. And I
6 kind of pointed out that this might be a bad idea.

7 I also pointed out that opening day at
8 Comerica Park is coming up soon in April. Now what I
9 didn't do is I didn't give you a case. I know the
10 lawyers in the room are breaking out their pens right
11 now. But remember, in 2006 United States District
12 Court in this area struck down the city ordinance
13 concerning sales of tickets. Okay. So I know
14 everybody will want to read Carroll versus City of
15 Detroit at 410 fed sub 2nd page 615 Eastern District of
16 Michigan 2006. Carroll is spelled C-A-R-R-O-L-L. Love
17 everybody. I'm trying to do everybody a favor by
18 giving a polite heads-up that there might be a problem.
19 I think it should be re-evaluated between now and
20 opening day. And I think you might want to make an
21 adjustment in Detroit Police Department policy. Last
22 time this was up in 2006, it got kind of expensive
23 because the class action lawsuit entitled the recovery
24 under 42 USC 1983 of actual damages and, of course,
25 attorney's fees under 42 USC 1988. And remember, this

1 isn't my case. I'm trying to be nice. Some guy up in
2 Oakland County files a case, but just because you
3 change policy now doesn't mean it's an admission
4 because we all know under the Federal Rules of
5 Evidence, subsequent remedial action is not admissible
6 in court. Ms. Washington.

7 D.C. WASHINGTON: How you doing?

8 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Thank you, sir. Deputy
9 Chief Washington is ready to respond.

10 D.C. WASHINGTON: Celia Washington for the
11 record. And we are very familiar with the case that
12 Mr. Rhodes is talking about. We had a pretty extensive
13 meeting at the law department. And I need to first
14 start out by saying that the allegations, and I'm not
15 going into the lawsuit, the details of the lawsuit, but
16 the allegations that are currently being raised are,
17 number one, that the DPD is trying to circumvent the
18 Carroll case that Mr. Rhodes talked about as to the
19 constitution that of being allowed to vend on a
20 sidewalk. And I can only speak from DPD's perspective.
21 As I understand it BC has their own tickets that they
22 issue. But as far as DPD, tickets that have been
23 issued, that are issued are only issued in instances
24 where there's impeding of pedestrian or vehicular
25 traffic. To that end, as I understand it, the officers

1 that do issue those tickets are documenting nature of
2 the impeding action, in some cases taking photos and
3 other things. But the case -- I don't want it to sound
4 as though, you know, that we're being reactive to
5 litigation I guess is my stand. I'm very comfortable.
6 I put out teletypes before to reinforce, and D.C. Hall
7 A.C. Stair and others are very supportive that our guys
8 are getting it right.

9 Having said that, from the meeting yesterday,
10 there are some concerns that there may or may not be
11 sufficient data to support the notion that these
12 citations are being issued in the interest of public
13 safety solely. We don't have the data. Our offices
14 are seeing it, we're seeing people that are on the
15 street blocking traffic, but we don't have the data.

16 So having said that, the decision has been
17 made, and actually you guys are getting to hear it
18 first because I haven't had a chance to draft the
19 teletype that's effective immediately; that the
20 department will not be writing tickets under 41-2-3 I
21 believe it is. Mr. Rhodes, I believe. I believe it's
22 41-2-3, the impeding.

23 So that's for now. If for some reason it
24 changes, as I see it, and that would include BC writing
25 tickets as well, as I see it, it probably will come

1 back in a different form, maybe, but for now, there
2 will be no tickets written.

3 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Cease and desist.

4 D.C. WASHINGTON: A little strong, but. . .

5 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Thank you, Deputy Chief
6 Washington. And thank you, sir, Mr. Rhodes, for
7 bringing that to our attention, and we are properly
8 addressing that issue. So you can get out there and
9 sell your tickets. Any other comments?

10 MS. SMITH: Bernice Smith. D.C., good
11 afternoon to the commissioners. This past Tuesday, or
12 was it Monday? Well anyway, we all know about the
13 incident that happened in Inkster, all right? We saw
14 it on the TV. We gathered our opinion individually.
15 But what I want to let you know, I had no idea, my son
16 called me and told me that it was one of his
17 co-workers. He called him up and we had a three-way
18 conversation. I'm not going to go into details about
19 what the conversation is because it's pending in court.
20 But I did state to him why did you open your door? We
21 all know what Fountain comes before us and tell us
22 about do not open your doors, you know. Is it
23 commander? Investigator Fountain. He has stressed to
24 all of us at our meetings and other meetings that I've
25 attended, whenever the police stop you, do not open

1 your doors. You sit in your car. Put your hand on the
2 steering column and you raise your window down. And
3 that's what I spoke to him about. Well, he wasn't
4 thinking. And then he said his car had just got washed
5 so he didn't want the windows, you know, to be wet up.
6 But the fact is, it was totally unnecessary, in my
7 opinion, what I saw. I thought we were looking at
8 another Garner incident from New York.

9 One thing about Detroit Police, in my
10 estimation, and I haven't seen it yet, and I've been
11 here going on 23 years and living in downtown Midtown
12 for over 19 years, I have never seen our police
13 department even when we had the Big Four, they did a
14 little unnecessary roughness, but what I saw Monday was
15 totally unnecessary and I feel as though we have to
16 applaud our police department, because all these years
17 that I've been here, and I have never and could be
18 missing, I don't see everything, but I try, but in the
19 meantime I'm going to applaud my Detroit Police
20 Department and let them know I'm proud of them because
21 they use very good courtesy and judgement as far as
22 stopping the Detroiters here in our city, and I will
23 tell anybody that. And I did say it on the air the
24 next day. As you all know, I talk on Cliff's program
25 and we brought that up. And the fact that they put

1 drugs in his car, that was totally unnecessary. The
2 man is 57-years-old. He's been with Ford Motor Company
3 for 37 years. He's never had any kind of discipline,
4 disciplinary action against him at the Ford or even
5 have a record. So I feel as though this was an
6 injustice, and I do not want our Detroit Police to
7 think that they will be considered the same way that
8 Flint or Inkster Police.

9 Napoleon, the former police chief, he made
10 the remark that he has stated that the police there
11 needs to be investigated. Now when you find a former
12 police chief saying that, then it's something wrong. I
13 want them to stay in Inkster. Do not come near our
14 border of Detroit with any of their actions because we
15 will not tolerate it. And I will be looking forward to
16 seeing Mr. Denton. I think his name is Denton. But
17 anyway, he wants us to see him again, and I'm glad he
18 didn't make a suggestion that he was going to take a
19 plea. No. When you're innocent, you don't need to
20 take a plea.

21 So I want the police department here in
22 Detroit to know that we are, at least I am, I don't
23 know about the rest of the Detroiters, but they did
24 talk favorably, favorably on the air in regards to the
25 police department, and I want you to know and tell our

1 chief that keep up the good work. We will keep the
2 drugs out of our city.

3 The lady told me at a meeting yesterday that
4 she's from Flint, and I'm going to be through in one
5 minute, she's from Flint and she says it is overrun
6 with drug dealers there, and I feel sorry for her. But
7 they don't have enough policemen there. And I found
8 out that we had when our former police, she's the chief
9 over there in Flint, Doris, I can't think of her last
10 name. But anyway -- James Tolbert is over there? Well
11 I saw her. Inkster. I know Tolbert's in Flint. Yeah.
12 So she's now the chief over there. I was quite
13 surprised that she left us, but anyway, you do what you
14 got to do. So in the meantime, Kudos to our police
15 department here in Detroit. That's all I've got to
16 say.

17 CHAIRPERSON BELL: You enlightened us on
18 Inkster and Flint.

19 MS. SMITH: I'm sorry.

20 CHAIRPERSON BELL: We appreciate that
21 opportunity to hear what's happening in those two
22 cities.

23 MS. SMITH: I didn't mean to say Flint.

24 MR. SCOTT: Ron Scott.

25 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Yes, sir.

1 MR. SCOTT: I had the opportunity to be on a
2 panel with Chairman Bell. Did you mention that?

3 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Yes, sir, but you can
4 share your remarks.

5 MR. SCOTT: I thought that he was a rare
6 combination of Medgar Evers because when somebody
7 mentions Mississippi, at least you mentioned
8 Mississippi, and I one of the elected officials was a
9 little less than judicious about his assessment of the
10 matter. I felt that it was a very strong presentation
11 about defense of the Constitution and the voting rights
12 of the citizens of the City of Detroit; that I told him
13 afterwards, I said it sort of made me look like I was
14 very conservative in terms of the way he presented me.

15 But I think it was important, and I think the
16 passion, and I think the strength, and I think the
17 defense of the Constitutional rights of the cities of
18 the City of Detroit was very well needed at that point.
19 And I think it's a sad story in terms of some of our
20 elected officials who would go out in public and who
21 would not stand for that, and who would do it in the
22 same forum where you have elected officials who have
23 essentially been diluted in there ability to exercise
24 that right. So I just wanted to say publically I
25 appreciate what you did and being on the panel to

1 support that.

2 Having said that, I just wanted to ask --
3 wanted to mention two things. One is there's going to
4 be driver responsibility forum tonight at Southeastern
5 High School. So if you know anyone to be there.
6 Alberta Tinsley-Talabi state rep is holding that, so it
7 might be of some interest to some people.

8 And Director Drake, Davis-Drake, I wanted to
9 find out when you have unknown officers, I'm wondering,
10 does that concern you, and is there an audit to do that
11 because we're getting that over and over again you've
12 mentioned that, and I think that there should be some
13 way, and I know my good friend and highly respected AC
14 has to be concerned about that too because individuals
15 should know who the officers are in relationship to
16 that. Perhaps the technology will assist in some way,
17 but I think there at least needs to be some assessment
18 on it otherwise relative to that. So I mean through
19 the Chair I can't say, but, you know, but I'm just
20 raising that as a concern because people come to us
21 with complaints all the time and they don't know who
22 the officer is. It's important, obviously, if one
23 decides to litigate, but it's just important in terms
24 of perception and appreciation of the matter. And I
25 heard the person from TEG mention where you have people

1 who have unfounded complaints. Well I think that's
2 rather pejorative, it might not be unfounded. We need
3 to know whose complaints are founded, and we need to
4 know who they're making the complaints against, because
5 if you can't do that, the process is impeded. So we
6 don't want to see that processes impeded, we want to
7 see it continue. And that's just my comment for the
8 record.

9 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Thank you.

10 C.I. DAVIS-DRAKE: Pamela Davis-Drake for the
11 record, chief investigator. We have probably for as
12 long as I've been here had about a consistent number of
13 officers that have not been able to be identified for a
14 number of reasons, and this comes up quite readily. It
15 comes up often. One of the reasons is oftentimes the
16 Complainant does not have enough information. They
17 don't often know the name of the officer. They don't
18 often have the batch numbers or anything of that
19 nature. That is one reason. Oftentimes they have --
20 the officer is not -- is maybe identified as one
21 officer, and it's actually not that officer after the
22 investigation is concluded. But there are a number of
23 reasons why that may happen. I know at one time we
24 were talking about the video footage and having the
25 videotape, you know, clearly identify officers, and

1 that has been, they've stepped up, certainly the
2 department has for that.

3 One of the other issues that came up with the
4 public is that they couldn't always read or identify
5 the officer's badges, and that has been rectified.
6 Exactly.

7 So I think the numbers have pretty much been
8 consistent, the number of unknown officers that we've
9 had, and there have been efforts. But one of the
10 things is that I do when I go out into the community is
11 ask the citizens, make sure if you have an allegation
12 against an officer, you feel you have been served
13 unjustly, make sure you ask the officer for their name
14 and their badge number and they are obligated to
15 provide that information. That helps us in the course
16 of our investigation. And that's, again, something
17 that I readily tell the public when they go out, when I
18 go out anytime.

19 CHAIRPERSON BELL: And I want to say that we
20 don't take it lightly because we go to extraordinary
21 steps to try to identify the officers.

22 C.I. DAVIS-DRAKE: Absolutely.

23 CHAIRPERSON BELL: So we just don't look the
24 other way. We go through the process of trying to
25 identify. Numerous cases have that unknown person, but

1 they go through the process of going through, making
2 sure if it's possible any way. Sometimes it's just
3 totally out the box in terms of identifying that
4 officer.

5 C.I. DAVIS-DRAKE: And even if we don't have
6 very much information at all, we still conduct
7 canvasses of the area, we still go to the precincts,
8 nearby precincts. Oftentimes with those unknown
9 officers. Of course there's unknown precincts. We
10 don't know where the incident occurred or where the
11 officer actually came from. So we will look at the
12 surrounding communities. We will look at precincts all
13 around to try to identify the officers. If we even can
14 get a description from the complainants, we often go
15 out and try to, you know, locate the officer based on
16 what they give us as a description. So there are a lot
17 of efforts that's made to try to identify the officers.

18 Once we come back at the conclusion of the
19 investigation and it shows that we don't know, we
20 couldn't identify them, a lot of work has gone in to
21 trying to identify that officer. We do, we put a lot
22 of work into it. We have 90 days in which to do that.

23 So all the information, though, that we can
24 get from the complainant always helps. And, of course,
25 having that video evidence certainly does help. But

1 we, again, you're absolutely right, sir, we don't take
2 that lightly. We do. We take lots of steps, leaps and
3 bounds to make sure that we try to get all the
4 information so we can identify the officers, or at
5 least the precinct in which an officer came from. If
6 we can do that, then likely we can find out who that
7 officer was.

8 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Any comments?

9 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: I do have a
10 question. So with those cases where the officer is
11 unknown, do those then get placed into the unfounded or
12 exoner -- I mean not sustained categories?

13 C.I. DAVIS-DRAKE: You know, I know,
14 Commissioner, I'm sorry, please, if I cut you off,
15 please continue.

16 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Oh no. That's
17 okay.

18 C.I. DAVIS-DRAKE: I know that Mr. Scott did
19 use the term unfounded. It really depends on the
20 investigation itself. We sometimes have identified
21 wrongful behavior based on documentation where an
22 officer is unknown. So we actually have sustained the
23 officer even if it's an unknown officer. If we know
24 the precinct, we can, you know, let the precinct know
25 that we have sustained case in that area. So it really

1 just kind of depends. Most of the time, actually those
2 cases are not sustained because we don't have enough
3 information to really make a determination one way or
4 the other whether or not there was, you know, alleged
5 misconduct.

6 CHAIRPERSON BELL: So not sustained, but it
7 doesn't mean that it didn't happen.

8 C.I. DAVIS-DRAKE: Correct. Not sustained.

9 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: And so we are using
10 the information that the person provided.

11 C.I. DAVIS-DRAKE: Correct.

12 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: That this action
13 took place, and we are using it to evaluate.

14 C.I. DAVIS-DRAKE: Right.

15 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: The behavior of our
16 police officers.

17 C.I. DAVIS-DRAKE: Absolutely. Not sustained
18 basically means that we don't have enough evidence one
19 way or the other to either substantiate or to
20 discredit, you know, the allegation. So and that
21 usually is what is the case. It usually is not
22 necessarily unfounded, okay? So I want to -- I know
23 that was said, and I want to clarify that. That
24 usually is not the case.

25 CHAIRPERSON BELL: I just want to say that

1 also in the same process that even with the complaint,
2 after filing the initial complaint, failed to cooperate
3 with us, we still proceed ahead, conduct the
4 investigation and just use their CCR on face value,
5 which sometimes is lacking, but they still go ahead and
6 investigate to the best of their ability whether it be
7 a witness or whatever, you know. So sometimes we don't
8 get the cooperation of the witness they identified, you
9 know. So it's sort of really cumbersome to try to do a
10 thorough investigation without those facts and without
11 that cooperation, but we still proceed ahead.

12 C.I. DAVIS-DRAKE: Exactly. And that happens
13 more often than not. We have have complainants that
14 will provide a CCR. It will be filed. And then when
15 we go to follow up with the complainant, they do not
16 want to be involved. They don't return phone calls or
17 they tell us. We have sometimes they tell us, you
18 know, we just, we don't want to be involved. We don't
19 want to be on the record or for whatever reason.

20 So we use the contents of what is in the CCR,
21 the Citizen Complaint Report, to begin the
22 investigation and then we check all the bases. We try
23 not to leave any stone uncovered. Thank you.

24 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Thank you. Mr. Scott?

25 MR. SCOTT: Yes, sir. I'm Ron Scott. I'm

1 going to have to ask that you track the transcript for
2 the record. I never said unfounded. I never did say
3 that. I said unknown officers. But I did not say
4 unfounded. I did not speak to that. So check the
5 transcript to find out whether I'm right, and I believe
6 I am. So at any rate, thank you very much for the
7 additional, the additional time to do this. But I'm
8 suggesting that there be an audit or some other
9 methodology employed to see how we can up the numbers
10 to find out how this happens. I'm not critical of
11 anything. I mean I know there are numerous reasons.
12 But I'm just suggesting in the spirit of what we have
13 attempted to do with the Consent Decree that we find a
14 way to up this by doing some research as to what would
15 be a process to increase the identification. Because I
16 know in complaints coming to our shop, a lot of times
17 we get the same thing, and we actually send other
18 independent investigators out and do a number of other
19 things to try to identify. We try to see if it's
20 objectified by other video equipment in the general
21 area or whatever. Those are some of the things that we
22 do. So I would like to see if there can be, perhaps, a
23 strategic process initiated to find out if there's a
24 way that we can increase the identifiability of these
25 kinds of things. So not to criticize as much the

1 circumstances as they exist, but to make a proposal for
2 how we can transform it and make it better. That's
3 all.

4 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Okay. Thank you. We will
5 take a look at that. But I think one of the ways that
6 perhaps the community need to know your observation
7 need to be more, you know, conscientious about that.
8 Even if you looked at -- do we still have scout car
9 numbers?

10 A.C. STAIR: Yes, there's numbers on the
11 scout cars.

12 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Numbers on the scout cars.
13 We want to do our part, but just like a witness, it
14 leave of a whole lot to be desired, you know, sometime.
15 But you have to do your part as observation. But we
16 examine that and take a look at it. But sometimes you
17 don't need to have the dialog, you just need to make
18 note in terms of what you're dealing with. If there's
19 an arrest, easy to track, but just encounter, you know,
20 what can we say. You say two black officers stopped
21 you. And from there, you know, but we go through that
22 process, you know, look at who's in the area et cetera,
23 et cetera. But sometimes we don't have the findings
24 because there's rolling vehicles out there all the
25 time, you know. Two black officers. What does that

1 mean. But we do. We take it under consideration, Mr.
2 Scott. Thank you Chief Investigator.

3 Is there any other comments from the
4 audience? I just want to remind you that at 2:00 next
5 week, and we sent out an e-mail blast, send a notice
6 that it will be a brief meeting, and then we would
7 adjourn to go through this process. And if you got any
8 pressing matters, let the Board Secretary know that
9 apply to, you know, assistant chief, is there something
10 that we really need to deal with, let us know, but
11 that's our intention. Hopefully we got the consensus
12 of everybody. We want it to go on record. If we don't
13 have the quorum, we can't. But we want to move forward
14 to take advantage of this opportunity. So on that
15 note, the Chair would entertain a motion. Not
16 necessary, we don't have a quorum. So we can leave.
17 And thank you for coming.

18 (The proceeding was concluded at 4:30 p.m.)
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

CERTIFICATE OF NOTARY

STATE OF MICHIGAN)
) SS
COUNTY OF OAKLAND)

I, Melinda R. Womack, Certified Shorthand Reporter, a Notary Public in and for the above county and state, do hereby certify that the above deposition was taken before me at the time and place hereinbefore set forth; that the witness was by me first duly sworn to testify to the truth, and nothing but the truth, that the foregoing questions asked and answers made by the witness were duly recorded by me stenographically and reduced to computer transcription; that this is a true, full and correct transcript of my stenographic notes so taken; and that I am not related to, nor of counsel to either party nor interested in the event of this cause.

Melinda R. Womack



Melinda R. Womack, CSR-3611
Notary Public,
Jackson County, Michigan

My Commission expires: 06-22-2018

A			
A.C 5:6 12:19 14:16 24:5 26:23 29:20,25 30:3,8,14,19 35:17 37:10,17 38:11,14 39:5 39:13,16,20 43:22 44:12 47:7 61:10	admissible 46:5 admission 46:3 advancements 21:17 advantage 31:15 32:18 62:14 adviser 14:17 afraid 35:12 afternoon 3:5,5 5:9 15:1,2 25:5 35:18,25 41:2 43:4 44:25 48:11	38:7 anytime 55:18 anyway 32:17 43:13 48:12 50:17 51:10,13 apologize 37:19 applaud 49:16,19 application 15:8 16:7 applications 16:8 17:5 23:23 apply 62:9 appreciate 13:22 14:10 35:9,13 51:20 52:25 appreciation 53:24 approval 8:15 approving 8:9 approximately 19:8 April 8:10,12 31:7,7 32:24 33:22 45:8 archive 20:4,13 area 7:15 18:14 23:14 24:18,24 25:11 34:4 40:5,21 42:5 42:15 45:12 56:7 57:25 60:21 61:22 areas 10:12,19 18:13 23:8 25:19 arrest 61:19 arrested 37:4 40:12 art 21:18 asked 3:22,23 4:2,3 34:11 63:13 assault 17:24 assessment 52:9 53:17 assets 19:2 assist 28:9 53:16 assistance 8:7 assistant 5:3,4 14:11 29:18	37:8 39:8,22 42:23 43:20 62:9 associated 27:11 Association 6:1 40:3 assume 5:13 attempted 60:13 attempting 32:13 attend 30:13 34:7 41:16 attendance 5:23 6:2,8,25 7:1 8:1 14:8,9 30:18 32:17 33:2 attended 29:23 30:25 48:25 attendees 30:2 33:6 attending 5:11 8:6 attends 13:11 attention 39:9 39:22 40:1 48:7 attitude 13:13 attorney 2:14 4:22 6:3,11 7:2 attorney's 45:25 attribute 11:13 audience 14:14 34:14 62:4 audit 53:10 60:8 automatically 19:21 29:6 available 28:19 aware 12:12 29:17 40:18 awareness 33:10
abandoned 36:20 ability 26:20 52:23 59:6 able 18:12 20:1 24:25 28:10 35:3 38:19 54:13 abscess 28:21 absolutely 28:24 39:20 55:22 57:1 58:17 AC 53:13 Academy 7:11 29:24,25 34:22 34:24 access 16:14,16 16:20 28:7,9 28:13,16,17,18 accommodating 40:2 accountability 5:22 7:5 17:25 achieved 33:3 acknowledge 29:1 act 4:14 37:6 action 45:23 46:5 47:2 50:4 58:12 actions 50:14 activist 6:20 activities 9:2 actual 27:25 45:24 add 12:20 28:5 additional 60:7 60:7 address 6:13 addressed 5:21 addressing 48:8 adjourn 62:7 adjustment 45:21	age-old 11:14 agenda 5:14 32:3 32:12 ago 8:4 43:7,19 agree 26:18 32:15 agreeable 31:21 33:18 ahead 59:3,5,11 Ainsley 5:25 air 49:23 50:24 airbag 26:16 Airport 16:18 Alan 2:15 4:22 Alberta 53:6 allegation 17:24 55:11 58:20 allegations 10:12,15,17 46:14,16 alleged 58:4 allow 22:4 allowed 46:19 allows 19:17 alternative 25:16 ample 3:9 announcement 29:21 answer 26:6,9,20 44:22 answers 63:13 Anthony 2:3 3:18 3:19,20 4:1,6 4:9,15,18 5:15 5:16 7:1 34:9 anybody 44:3 49:23 anymore 23:1	back 4:23 6:12 8:14 14:14,24 22:5 25:15,18 30:17 37:24 38:2,5,8 40:8 43:24 48:1 56:18 background 15:3 backyard 8:24	
B			

bad 45:6
badge 55:14
badges 55:5
bankruptcy 21:14
 21:16,24
Banks 14:17
Baptist 33:23
Barbara 6:4
base 34:3
based 56:15
 57:21
bases 59:22
basically 31:19
 58:18
basis 17:14
 19:13
batch 54:18
battle 13:2
BC 46:21 47:24
beating 42:12
behalf 29:19
behavior 57:21
 58:15
believe 10:5
 47:21,21,21
 60:5
Bell 2:4 3:4,15
 3:17 4:13 5:2
 5:8,10,17 6:24
 11:2 13:9 14:7
 24:14 25:3
 26:5 27:13
 28:3,11,22,25
 29:13,16,22
 30:2,5,9,15,22
 32:6,9,11,24
 33:1,21 34:13
 35:15 37:8
 39:7,14,17
 40:16,19 41:1
 41:5,8,14 42:3
 42:17,22 43:12
 43:20 44:15,21
 46:8 48:3,5
 51:17,20,25
 52:2,3 54:9
 55:19,23 57:8
 58:6,25 59:24
 61:4,12
Bernard 2:14
 4:21 7:2
Bernice 48:10

best 3:7 27:10
 40:24 59:6
Beth 15:14
better 11:11,22
 11:23 13:4
 18:22 26:8
 28:1 61:2
Bettison 5:23
 30:20,23
big 25:17 49:13
biggest 17:23
Bill 43:4
Bishop 2:8 3:11
 4:7
bit 12:21 13:8
 38:15,16 44:5
black 61:20,25
blast 62:5
bless 14:10
blessing 34:5
blocking 47:15
blocks 39:11
board 1:3 2:14
 3:6,18,20 4:16
 4:22 5:11 6:14
 7:1,2,20 8:9
 30:15 36:2
 41:15 43:4
 45:1 62:8
body 8:14 9:18
 15:17,19 17:18
body-cam 18:17
body-cams 19:19
bold 36:10,14
boot 23:1
border 50:14
bounds 57:3
box 56:3
boys 39:1 42:6
brand 8:17
break 8:11
break-ins 36:17
 40:5
breaking 45:10
brief 9:18 33:12
 41:6 62:6
briefly 5:18
bright 7:25
bring 15:22 16:4
 38:19
bringing 48:7
broad 6:6

broke 37:18
broken 37:13
brought 37:3,12
 49:25
Brown 4:24
Brutality 6:23
building 8:18
 16:16 17:3
Bureau 15:4
 19:14
bureaus 16:13
Burton 3:22
business 7:16
 31:4,5
busy 33:4

C

C-A-R-R-O-L-L
 45:16
C.I 9:21 11:14
 14:6 27:20
 28:12,24 54:10
 55:22 56:5
 57:13,18 58:8
 58:11,14,17
 59:12
CAD 18:19
cadets 34:22
 35:4
Cadieux 7:12 9:7
call 3:18 8:21
 22:16 35:5
 44:22
called 25:22
 48:16,17
calls 43:5 59:16
camera 15:19
 17:18 27:16
cameras 15:17,18
 16:16 24:17,18
canvasses 56:7
capability 20:23
captain 8:20
 42:23
captains 42:20
car 19:20,22
 20:10 35:2,12
 49:1,4 50:1
 61:8
care 45:4
Carla 6:25
Carolyn 41:20

Carroll 45:14,16
 46:18
cars 16:2 20:25
 27:5,9 28:13
 29:9 61:11,12
Carter 3:21 6:12
 34:11
case 45:9 46:1,2
 46:11,18 47:3
 57:25 58:21,24
cases 10:3,4,4
 10:11,16,20,23
 10:24,25,25
 11:6 47:2
 55:25 57:10
 58:2
Cass 8:22
catch 30:13
 35:22 36:21
 37:6
catching 40:6
categories 57:12
caught 37:18
cause 63:19
CCR 59:4,14,20
cease 7:18 48:3
Celia 14:17
 37:11 46:10
cellular 23:22
Center 16:17,18
 16:19 18:25
 21:21 24:22
 29:11
centers 17:1
certain 24:17
 25:19
certainly 11:17
 12:16 26:24
 27:11 55:1
 56:25
CERTIFICATE 63:1
Certified 63:7
certify 63:9
cetera 33:5
 61:22,23
Chair 3:17,19
 4:11 9:21
 12:19 19:16
 20:21 21:11
 22:11 24:5,13
 24:16 26:23
 30:16 32:4

34:9 35:8
 44:16 53:19
 62:15
Chairman 11:5
 28:12 52:2
Chairperson 2:4
 3:4,15 4:13
 5:2,10,17 11:2
 13:9 14:7
 24:14 25:3
 26:5 27:13
 28:3,11,22,25
 29:13,16,22
 30:2,5,9,15,22
 32:6,9,11,24
 33:1,21 34:13
 35:15 37:8
 39:7,14,17
 40:16,19 41:1
 41:5,8,14 42:3
 42:17,22 43:12
 43:20 44:15,21
 46:8 48:3,5
 51:17,20,25
 52:3 54:9
 55:19,23 57:8
 58:6,25 59:24
 61:4,12
challenge 25:24
Championship
 8:22
chance 34:23
 47:18
Chandler 8:25
change 13:1 41:5
 46:3
changes 6:14
 22:8 47:24
changing 41:4
Chapman 33:25
charge 38:10
Chargers 25:21
chart 10:6
Charter 6:11
check 59:22 60:4
Chevrolets 25:14
Chicago 42:5
 43:15 44:9
chief 2:13 4:19
 4:20 5:3,4,5
 7:3 9:20,22
 10:2 13:5,9

14:12,13 17:16
 17:16 27:14
 29:18,19 30:21
 31:24 37:8
 39:8,23 42:23
 43:20 46:9
 48:5 50:9,12
 51:1,8,12
 54:11 62:2,9
chief's 5:23
children 43:24
choose 18:19
 26:9
chosen 26:10
Chrysler 25:9,21
church 33:23
 34:1,2,3
circulate 41:15
circumstances
 61:1
circumvent 46:17
citations 47:12
cities 21:13
 51:22 52:17
citizen 9:23
 29:25 59:21
Citizen's 29:24
citizens 52:12
 55:11
city 6:9 15:13
 16:15,18,24,25
 16:25 23:14
 24:4 34:20
 45:2,12,14
 49:22 51:2
 52:12,18
Citywide 15:11
 16:14
Civilian 6:1
clarify 58:23
class 7:16 30:13
 35:5 45:23
clear 28:1
clearly 54:25
Cliff's 49:24
close 10:3
closed 10:20
closing 38:3
closure 10:25
clothes 37:2
 39:2
clothing 40:10

co-workers 48:17
Coalition 6:23
Cody 43:7,14,15
cold 36:2
Coleman 16:17
collaborating
 44:18
collection 18:21
column 49:2
combination 52:6
come 8:14 31:16
 35:6 36:1 37:1
 41:9 44:13
 47:25 50:13
 53:20 56:18
Comerica 45:8
comes 48:21
 54:14,15
comfortable 47:5
coming 8:11 22:9
 22:20 26:19
 33:10 36:23,24
 38:25 40:8
 45:8 60:16
 62:17
command 16:3
commander 5:23
 14:19 30:20,22
 48:23
commanders 14:13
commands 16:5
Commencing 1:11
comment 54:7
comments 24:15
 27:13 48:9
 57:8 62:3
Commission 3:6
 3:24 4:16 6:11
 6:12 63:25
Commissioner 2:5
 2:6,7,8 3:15
 3:21,21,23,25
 4:1,2,4,5,6,7
 4:8,9 5:8 6:24
 6:25 11:4
 13:11 19:16
 20:3,8,17,21
 21:5,11,22
 22:11 23:5,10
 23:18 24:2,12
 24:16 29:1,3
 31:11 32:4,8

32:10,22,25
 33:20 34:10
 57:9,14,16
 58:9,12,15
commissioners
 1:3 2:1 6:15
 11:2 33:19
 48:11
commitment 5:11
committee 4:14
 25:7 31:3
communicate
 31:23
communication
 16:18 17:1,2,3
 34:13
communities
 56:12
community 5:20
 5:21 6:19 7:5
 11:22 13:13
 14:2 25:6 33:9
 33:21 40:2
 41:7,8 55:10
 61:6
companies 34:19
Company 50:2
compare 21:12
complainant
 54:16 56:24
 59:15
complainants
 56:14 59:13
complaining
 11:12,13
complaint 9:23
 59:1,2,21
complaints 9:25
 10:1,7 11:9
 12:2,6 53:21
 54:1,3,4 60:16
completely 26:18
 35:3,11
completes 4:25
compliance 32:1
compliances
 26:12
compliant 26:16
computer 63:15
computers 15:16
 36:13
computes 26:2

concept 39:18
concern 10:12,19
 53:10,20
concerned 53:14
concerning 45:13
concerns 8:1
 11:3 47:10
concluded 54:22
 62:18
concludes 11:1
conclusion 56:18
condensed 31:17
conduct 56:6
 59:3
confused 41:3
connection 16:2
Conrad 4:1
conscientious
 61:7
conscious 26:17
consensus 31:13
 31:22 32:14
 33:17 62:11
consent 11:21
 13:7 60:13
conservative
 52:14
consider 27:4
consideration
 62:1
considered 50:7
consistent 54:12
 55:8
consistently
 15:10
constantly 19:11
 22:17
constitution
 46:19 52:11
Constitutional
 52:17
contact 44:2
contents 59:20
continue 54:7
 57:15
control 16:14
 23:19
convene 31:25
conversation
 31:8 48:18,19
convey 31:23
cooperate 59:2

cooperation 34:5
 59:8,11
correct 5:15,16
 18:1 20:19
 21:7 58:8,11
 63:16
correctly 32:13
correlation 11:7
 11:8
Council 6:9
counsel 6:10
 63:18
counselor 30:24
count 9:24
county 6:7,18
 7:18 46:2 63:5
 63:8,24
couple 13:15
 19:10 39:11,11
 40:14 44:10
course 38:17
 45:24 55:15
 56:9,24
court 4:25 22:6
 34:12 45:12
 46:6 48:19
courtesy 49:21
cover 24:9
Craig 5:4
Crawford 3:23
creative 33:7
crime 15:23
 18:24 21:21
 24:22 29:11
criminal 6:6
 26:3
criminals 36:23
critical 60:10
criticize 60:25
Cromwell 6:1
CSR-3611 1:13
 63:22
cumbersome 59:9
curbside 22:5
curiosity 9:17
current 15:15
 17:20 19:8,24
currently 10:23
 15:13 20:1
 25:11 28:14
 46:16
Curtis 14:19

customer 12:22
 13:1
customized 16:11
cut 30:12 42:6
 57:14

D

D.C 46:7,10 47:6
 48:4,10
daily 22:21 23:4
damages 45:24
data 18:21 28:14
 47:11,13,15
databases 16:11
date 8:14 10:4
Davis-Drake 2:13
 4:20 7:3 9:21
 9:22 11:14
 14:6 53:8
 54:10,10 55:22
 56:5 57:13,18
 58:8,11,14,17
 59:12
day 22:18 25:15
 25:18 32:22
 45:7,20 49:24
day-to-day 15:16
 17:14 19:13
 23:4
days 11:1 20:18
 37:21 40:14
 56:22
deal 9:17 31:11
 38:3 62:10
dealers 51:6
dealing 6:6,22
 7:24 61:18
decided 35:1
decides 53:23
decision 47:16
decrease 9:25
 11:8,9
decreasing 12:4
Decree 11:21
 60:13
deeper 12:21
defense 52:11,17
demeanor 10:13
 10:21 12:23
Denby 43:12,13
 43:17
denoting 10:6

Denton 50:16,16
department 6:7
 6:17 12:17
 14:1 15:5,10
 15:24 16:12
 17:14 24:11
 25:12 26:8
 28:16 36:15,19
 42:21 45:21
 46:13 47:20
 49:13,16,20
 50:21,25 51:15
 55:2
Department's
 45:3
depends 28:19
 57:19 58:1
deposition 63:9
Deputy 14:12
 46:8 48:5
described 39:1
description 15:3
 56:14,16
Deshaune 14:19
 14:20
design 15:8 16:1
desired 61:14
desist 48:3
desk 22:25
desktop 15:17
 17:8 22:22
desktops 15:16
 16:9 17:12,13
 22:24
details 46:15
 48:18
Detention 16:19
determination
 58:3
determine 38:16
Detroit 1:3,10
 3:1 5:12 6:9
 6:10,23 7:11
 9:3 15:5,9,24
 16:18,19 17:2
 17:13 24:19
 33:25 34:20
 42:13,14 44:19
 45:3,15,21
 49:9,19 50:6
 50:14,22 51:15
 52:12,18

Detroiters 49:22
 50:23
develop 18:8
developed 23:6
developing 15:20
 19:25
Dewaelsche 2:5
 3:24,25 21:11
 21:22 22:11
 23:5,10,18
 24:2,12 32:4,8
 32:10 57:9,16
 58:9,12,15
dialog 7:22
 31:11 61:17
dialogue 6:3 7:4
 9:13 31:14
different 11:9
 13:6 16:13
 27:9 35:4
 43:23 48:1
difficult 40:23
diluted 52:23
direct 11:7 28:7
 28:9
directly 9:6
director 14:21
 15:1,5 19:20
 20:6,9,19,25
 21:7,14,25
 22:18 23:9,13
 23:20 24:21
 26:6 28:5 29:8
 29:15 53:8
dirt 35:13
disciplinary
 50:4
discipline 50:3
discredit 58:20
discuss 31:5
discussing 44:1
discussion 7:9
 31:20
discussions 24:7
dispatch 23:24
display 21:9
District 6:4,10
 41:21 45:11,15
districts 41:23
division 26:21
documentation
 57:21

documenting 47:1
doing 11:11 13:4
 13:17 14:21
 18:1 22:4
 39:21,24 41:23
 44:20 46:7
 60:14
Don 25:5 39:23
Donnell 4:9
door 9:9 48:20
doors 36:6 38:1
 48:22 49:1
Doris 51:9
download 20:13
downsized 25:9
downtown 24:18
 24:23 49:11
DPD 46:17,22
DPD's 46:20
DPS 44:3,19
draft 47:18
Drake 9:20 13:10
 27:20 28:12,24
 53:8
dramatic 11:8
dressed 35:10
drew 13:11
Drive 33:24
driver 53:4
driveway 37:2
 38:25 40:9
drug 51:6
drugs 50:1 51:2
DSL 8:22
duly 63:11,14
duties 11:19

E

E 2:4 3:21
e-mail 14:9 16:9
 31:23 62:5
early 9:12
earrings 42:8
east 7:10,11,13
 9:3 33:11,24
 33:24 43:13
Easter 8:11
Eastern 6:4
 45:15
easy 61:19
Edgar 2:8 4:7
edge 21:21

education 32:21
effect 43:14
 44:15
effective 47:19
efforts 55:9
 56:17
eight-week 30:7
 30:8
either 44:3
 58:19 63:18
elaborate 41:21
Elaine 14:24
 44:23
elected 52:8,20
 52:22
electronic 22:2
emergency 19:4
employed 60:9
EMS 16:24 17:9
encounter 13:21
 61:19
encouraging 34:6
enforcement 6:2
 23:15,16,20
engaging 40:21
English 7:10
 33:11
enlightened
 51:17
entertain 62:15
enthused 8:18
entitled 45:23
equipment 25:13
 25:23 28:13
 60:20
equipped 27:24
 27:25
ergonomics 25:8
especially 6:14
 26:1 42:24
essentially
 52:23
established
 33:13
establishing
 24:17
estimation 49:10
et 33:5 61:22,23
Europe 25:17
Eva 2:5 3:24
evaluate 58:13
evaluating 24:10

Evans 44:8
evening 9:12
 29:23 30:6
event 63:18
Evergreen 43:15
Evers 52:6
everybody 17:17
 31:24 33:18
 45:14,17,17
 62:12
evidence 18:10
 18:12 46:5
 56:25 58:18
Exactly 55:6
 59:12
examine 61:16
excused 3:22,23
 4:2,3 34:11
exercise 52:23
exist 61:1
exoner 57:12
exonerated 10:18
expand 29:11
expensive 45:22
experience 34:21
expires 63:25
explaining 32:13
extend 20:20
extensive 46:12
extraordinary
 55:20
eye 12:3,16
eyewitness 35:24
 38:10,21,22
 39:1 40:6,7,14

F

face 59:4
fact 11:18 37:25
 49:6,25
factors 12:14
facts 59:10
failed 29:22
 59:2
faithfully 41:16
familiar 46:11
family 8:6
far 46:22 49:21
fast 21:18
favor 45:17
favorably 50:24
 50:24

February 9:24
 10:2,8,11,16
 35:19
fed 45:15
Federal 46:4
feedback 13:12
 13:23 14:3
 28:4
feel 49:15 50:5
 51:6 55:12
feeling 36:16
fees 45:25
felt 52:10
Fennessey 14:22
field 16:4,6
 18:2,20,23
 19:2 20:1 22:4
 23:24
figure 9:9 27:10
filed 10:3,4,7
 10:11,16 59:14
files 46:2
filing 59:2
final 23:5
find 24:9 37:14
 44:1,4 50:11
 53:9 57:6 60:5
 60:10,13,23
findings 10:17
 61:23
fine 41:12
finger 12:10
fingerprints
 35:22 36:1,4,8
 37:14,15 38:12
 38:21
Finney 7:14
fire 16:24 17:9
 18:19
fired 7:18 23:8
first 18:5 43:7
 43:9 46:13
 47:18 63:11
fit 25:8,19
 26:13 32:20
fitting 26:11
five 12:5 33:18
 40:5
fixed 29:12
fleet 26:7,7
Flint 50:8 51:4
 51:5,9,11,18

51:23
focal 33:12
focus 7:21 27:6
folks 30:12
 41:25
follow 59:15
follow-up 7:9
following 13:7
follows 9:24
 10:8,18,20
footage 20:4
 27:25 28:17,18
 54:24
footprint 16:15
 24:23
force 10:14,21
forces 21:13
Ford 6:16 25:9
 50:2,4
Fords 25:15
foregoing 63:13
forget 23:7
forgot 43:16
form 48:1
formal 31:25
format 7:7,19
 8:8 9:5 33:14
 41:18
former 6:10 50:9
 50:11 51:8
forth 11:22
 28:18 43:24
 63:11
fortunate 5:22
forum 5:19 7:6
 7:24 9:12
 13:12 14:8
 30:25 52:22
 53:4
forward 4:14 8:9
 25:2 34:4
 37:12 50:15
 62:13
found 8:19 30:24
 51:7
foundation 6:13
founded 54:3
Fountain 48:21
 48:23
four 40:5 42:7
 43:6 49:13
Fourteen 10:24

freed 35:3
Friday 32:16
 38:6
friend 53:13
front 3:8 4:19
 4:21 9:7 27:21
front-ends 16:11
full 17:6 25:14
 32:2,12 34:16
 63:16
full-sized 25:22
fully 18:19
 35:10
function 25:8,19
functionality
 21:8
functions 15:6
funding 22:10
 24:9 27:11
further 29:19,20

G

Gabe 6:9
Galilee 33:23
garage 17:10
Garner 49:8
gas 24:25
gathered 48:14
general 6:3,10
 6:22 7:21 16:8
 19:11 60:20
generally 27:3
gentlemen 37:17
 37:18 40:4
gentlest 42:20
George 2:3 3:18
 3:20 7:1
Georgia 38:6
getting 12:7
 14:2 19:23
 21:8,9 26:19
 26:25 28:1
 40:6 42:25
 47:8,17 53:11
give 7:22 15:2,3
 23:11,25 27:18
 34:16 39:9
 40:22 42:2
 44:22 45:9
 56:16
given 3:14 24:6
 28:16

giving 22:3
 23:22 45:3,18
glad 30:25 40:20
 50:17
glasses 14:20
GM 25:9
go 9:8,9 16:4,9
 16:21 22:5
 26:10,24 32:2
 33:11 34:23,24
 35:6,8 36:5,6
 36:21 37:6,20
 37:22 39:10
 42:8 48:18
 52:20 55:10,17
 55:18,20,24
 56:1,7,14 59:5
 59:15 61:21
 62:7,12
goes 16:23 17:12
 20:15
going 3:9,11,17
 9:9 14:23 20:1
 22:19,23 23:10
 24:3,18 27:25
 30:7 31:24
 32:6,17 34:3
 38:5 40:1,24
 41:5,22 42:1
 42:10,15,23
 43:17,21,24
 46:15 48:18
 49:11,19 50:18
 51:4 53:3 56:1
 60:1
golf 8:19,20,23
 8:24
good 3:4,5,6
 5:24 6:8 7:4
 8:8 9:5,5
 12:16 25:5
 28:22 32:16
 35:18 41:2
 44:25 48:10
 49:21 51:1
 53:13
gotten 12:5
GPS 20:23 21:3
grads 7:14
grass 35:2
great 6:3 9:17
 11:6 21:17

22:7 30:15,21
31:2,11
ground 7:13
group-wise 16:9
GSD 16:25
guess 5:18 9:19
14:11 29:18
30:6,12 39:10
44:4 47:5
guy 42:12 46:1
guys 35:8,23
36:8,9 37:24
38:8 39:3
42:15 47:7,17
gym 9:8

H

hair 42:6
half 13:2
halfway 37:11
Hall 47:6
hand 49:1
handcuffed 39:3
handle 16:21
17:21 23:16
handles 17:11
hands 24:1
Hanson 4:25
happen 54:23
58:7
happened 35:24
38:4 43:19
48:13
happening 11:9
11:24 19:1
24:1 38:4
51:21
happens 25:1
59:12 60:10
happy 11:5
hard 40:20
hardware 23:3
Hart 16:19
Hayes 14:21 15:1
15:6 19:20
20:6,9,19,25
21:7,14,25
22:18 23:9,13
23:20 24:21
26:6 28:5 29:8
29:13,15
heads-up 42:2

45:18
hear 3:9 28:23
35:20 47:17
51:21
heard 18:3 43:18
53:25
held 5:19 33:22
40:13
help 15:13,23
17:6,23 18:22
25:25 36:20
39:6 56:25
helped 35:11
helpful 14:10
helping 36:19
helps 55:15
56:24

hereinbefore
63:10
hey 25:12
hi 13:16 41:24
high 7:11,14
12:24 20:13
31:6 43:12
53:5
highly 53:13
hold 20:17
holding 53:6
Holy 32:16
home 35:19 37:19
hope 7:23 8:13
27:7 34:1
hopefully 8:10
8:11 13:11
38:19 40:22
42:24 62:11
hosted 5:20
hour 31:17
hours 9:12
house 35:23 36:3
36:11,11,14,17
37:3,6,13,24
38:2 39:2 40:8
40:15
houses 39:11
husband 44:9

I

idea 45:6 48:15
identifiability
60:24
identification

60:15
identified 40:9
54:13,20 57:20
59:8
identify 23:8
54:25 55:4,21
55:25 56:13,17
56:20,21 57:4
60:19
identifying 56:3
immediate 19:4
immediately 19:2
47:19
impact 6:14
Impalas 25:20
impeded 54:5,6
impeding 46:24
47:2,22
implement 18:8
24:3
implementation
21:20
implemented
18:10 23:12,14
important 52:15
53:22,23
impressed 8:17
30:6,11,17
impression 13:13
improve 15:24
improved 27:16
27:20,23
in-car 15:16,17
15:18 17:8,18
17:19 18:3
27:16 29:4
in-cars 17:11
incident 25:1
35:24 40:7
42:11 48:13
49:8 56:10
include 47:24
increase 12:3
18:12,21 60:15
60:24
increased 18:14
indefinite 20:16
independent
60:18
indicated 13:5
22:12,13
individually

48:14
individuals
24:17 31:16
53:14
industry 26:24
27:3
information 7:7
12:11 24:20
37:12 38:7,15
38:22 41:15
54:16 55:15
56:6,23 57:4
58:3,10
infrastructure
15:25 17:5
19:8 23:3
initial 59:2
initiated 60:23
injustice 50:6
Inkster 42:13
48:13 50:8,13
51:11,18
innocent 50:19
inservice 30:10
inside 26:2 40:9
43:16
Insight 28:15,15
install 15:9
16:7
installed 23:21
23:23
instances 46:23
instruction 15:7
integrated 15:12
18:19 24:19
integrity 16:22
intention 62:11
interact 9:1
30:16 34:1
42:25
interacted 31:1
interacting 7:10
8:8
interaction 8:15
9:16 11:23
27:15 31:6
34:4
interactions 8:2
interest 47:12
53:7
interested 63:18
interesting 9:1

9:13
interrogations 16:21
interviews 16:21
introduce 4:16
 5:3 14:12
introduction
 4:15 5:1
invasion 35:19
investigate 59:6
investigated
 50:11
investigation
 27:16 38:16,18
 54:22 55:16
 56:19 57:20
 59:4,10,22
investigations
 10:3
investigator
 2:13 4:19,20
 7:3 9:20,22
 10:2 13:5,10
 20:15 27:14
 48:23 54:11
 62:2
investigator's
 22:25
investigators
 6:17 17:16
 18:22 22:3
 28:6,9 60:18
Invocation 3:14
involved 7:19
 10:5,7,11
 11:17 59:16,18
issue 6:22 12:13
 27:11 31:5
 46:22 47:1
 48:8
issued 46:23,23
 46:23 47:12
issues 5:14 6:6
 6:21 8:18 35:1
 55:3
item 9:19 34:8

J

Jack 14:22
Jackson 63:24
James 51:10
Jessica 2:7 4:6

29:1
jewelry 36:12
jewels 9:3
job 11:11 13:4
 17:17 25:20
 30:21 35:9
Johnson 25:5,6
 26:22 39:21,24
 40:17,20,25
joined 29:1
Joy 43:15
Jr 6:11
judgement 13:7
 49:21
judicious 52:9
June 8:13
justice 6:6,7

K

keep 17:22 42:14
 51:1,1
keeping 12:3,16
Kelly 43:10
kept 37:20
key 12:20
kind 3:13 12:25
 18:6 27:9
 28:12 38:16
 42:10 45:6,22
 50:3 58:1
kindness 41:22
kinds 26:12
 60:25
knew 11:15 37:2
 37:3,23 39:2
know 6:21 8:4,22
 8:23 9:1 11:20
 12:10 13:2,20
 13:20,22,25,25
 14:2 18:10
 21:1 22:16
 23:3 25:8,12
 27:4,10,17
 30:23 31:19
 33:4,6 34:14
 35:4,14,20
 36:10,11,11,13
 36:14 39:23
 40:4 41:16
 42:9,10,24
 43:2,19 44:2
 44:21 45:9,13

46:4 47:4
 48:12,15,21,22
 49:5,20,24
 50:22,23,25
 51:11 53:5,13
 53:15,19,21
 54:3,4,17,23
 54:25 56:10,15
 56:19 57:13,13
 57:18,23,24,24
 58:4,20,22
 59:7,9,18
 60:11,16 61:6
 61:7,14,19,21
 61:22,25 62:8
 62:9,10
knowledge 12:13
known 10:7
Kudos 51:14

L

lack 12:13
lacking 59:5
lady 39:9 51:3
Lamont 6:11
laptop 26:14,15
large 16:15
 24:22 27:7
larger 27:2
Lashinda 5:5
law 6:2 7:16
 37:5 46:13
lawsuit 45:23
 46:15,15
lawyers 45:10
leading 10:7,12
 10:15,19 21:21
leaps 57:2
leave 59:23
 61:14 62:16
left 51:13
legal 14:17
Leland 6:9
Let's 14:5
level 20:22
license 29:6,9
 45:5
Lieutenant 6:16
 14:14,24 30:20
 30:23 44:12,16
 44:23,23
light 32:17

lighting 23:7
lightly 55:20
 57:2
Linda 2:14 4:21
 7:2
Lisa 3:21 34:11
litigate 53:23
litigation 47:5
little 12:21
 15:3 26:1 33:7
 35:12 38:15
 42:10 44:4
 48:4 49:14
 52:9
live 39:11 41:21
 42:4
living 49:11
locate 56:15
location 30:11
 33:16
locations 21:3
lock 8:14
Lodge 40:3
long 22:15 28:19
 39:10 42:15
 54:12
look 15:7,20
 19:13 22:14,19
 23:4 25:20,20
 25:21,25 26:10
 26:12 27:3,4
 29:4,6 33:5
 52:13 55:23
 56:11,12 61:5
 61:16,22
looked 19:17
 32:14 61:8
looking 8:9
 12:18 18:24
 19:12,24 20:2
 22:21 23:2
 25:16 34:4
 49:7 50:15
lost 8:5
lot 8:5 9:7
 11:21 12:9
 13:5,18 16:7
 16:10 18:3
 20:12 27:24
 33:3 43:5
 56:16,20,21
 60:16 61:14

lots 11:16 57:2
Love 45:16
lower 33:2
LPR 29:9
Lyndon 17:2,9
 20:14

M

ma'am 37:11 39:7
Mahala 35:18
main 17:1
maintain 15:8,9
 15:14 16:22
major 6:14 21:13
 22:8
majority 33:2
making 21:17
 22:6 54:4 56:1
Mallett 4:2
man 6:19,20 8:5
 8:20 50:2
management 34:25
manager 4:24
manner 13:3
March 1:12 3:2
mark 20:16
Martha 44:7,9
matter 37:25
 52:10 53:24
matters 62:8
Mayor's 44:18
McQuade 6:4
mean 11:10 13:17
 46:3 51:23
 53:18 57:12
 58:7 60:11
 62:1
means 58:18
Medgar 52:6
meeting 1:5 3:6
 3:12,16,22
 7:21,23 8:10
 9:11 27:22
 30:25 31:7,9
 31:13,17,25
 32:5,7,7,12
 33:6,8,12,15
 33:17,22 41:3
 41:6 43:7
 46:13 47:9
 51:3 62:6
meetings 35:7

48:24,24
megahertz 15:15
Melinda 1:13
 63:7,22
Member 6:9
members 8:6
men 36:9,9 42:9
mention 14:7
 29:22 52:2
 53:3,25
mentioned 20:9
 52:7 53:12
mentions 52:7
mess 36:5
messaging 5:7
met 8:20 31:19
methodology 60:9
mi 3:10
mic 3:8
Michigan 1:1,10
 3:1 6:4 45:16
 63:3,24
Microsoft 16:10
middle 18:4,18
Midtown 49:11
Miles 14:24
 30:20,23 44:12
 44:16,23,23
Mindy 4:24
minister 34:6
minute 51:5
minutes 5:14
 22:25 34:14
misconduct 58:5
missing 49:18
mission-critical
 17:4
Missionary 33:23
Missions 5:20
Mississippi 52:7
 52:8
mistaken 24:6
mobile 16:2,3,5
 18:20 22:3
mobiles 19:6
model 17:21
 26:10
models 26:9
Monday 29:23
 30:6 48:12
 49:14
monitor 17:4

monitored 21:2,3
monitoring 17:6
 21:3
month 8:10,12
 31:6 33:16
monthly 9:19,24
months 12:1,2
 21:19,23 22:1
 22:8,9 32:19
Moore 4:3 6:25
morning 33:5
motion 62:15
Motor 50:2
move 3:8 4:14
 5:17 7:23
 14:11,14 24:8
 31:12,17 32:6
 36:22 62:13
moved 44:9,9
moving 25:1 31:9
 36:24
mud 35:3,12
multiple 16:24
Municipal 16:17

N

NACOLE 6:2
name 23:7 25:3,5
 29:24 34:16,18
 35:18 41:20
 44:25 50:16
 51:10 54:17
 55:13
Napoleon 50:9
National 6:1
nature 47:1
 54:19
near 50:13
nearby 56:8
necessarily
 58:22
necessary 44:2
 62:16
need 13:22 16:5
 25:25 28:10
 36:22 44:4
 46:13 50:19
 54:2,3 61:6,7
 61:17,17 62:10
needed 38:7
 52:18
needs 16:12

22:16 50:11
 53:17
negative 14:4
neighborhood
 14:25 36:16,22
 39:23
neighborhoods
 24:24 36:19
network 16:1
 19:11 22:22
networks 20:12
never 9:1 35:7
 49:12,17 50:3
 60:2,2
new 8:17 15:18
 15:20 17:2
 18:8,11 20:23
 22:19 27:24
 31:4 49:8
newer 17:21
news 42:14
Niblock 15:14
nice 13:20,21
 42:2 46:1
nicest 42:20
Nicholas 34:18
night 5:19
nine 16:25 35:4
nodding 31:14
normally 31:16
 32:16
northeastern
 33:24
notable 10:14
Notary 63:1,8,23
note 7:8 9:17
 61:18 62:15
notes 63:17
notice 62:5
notification
 19:3,4
notion 47:11
NPO's 5:25
number 12:14
 27:23 46:17
 54:12,14,22
 55:8,14 60:18
numbers 12:4
 54:18 55:7
 60:9 61:9,10
 61:12
numerous 55:25

60:11

O
Oakland 46:2
63:5
objectified
60:20
obligated 55:14
observation 61:6
61:15
obviously 17:5
53:22
occurred 37:19
56:10
OCI 9:19
office 2:13 4:20
4:24 7:18 10:2
10:24 14:24
16:10 21:2
22:6 31:24
44:18
officer 13:16
17:25 20:24
35:20 36:3
53:22 54:17,20
54:21,21 55:12
55:13 56:4,11
56:15,21 57:5
57:7,10,22,23
57:23
officer's 55:5
officers 9:14,16
10:5,6 11:18
11:23 12:25
17:24 18:1,22
21:1 25:23
26:14 29:5
37:14 46:25
53:9,15 54:13
54:25 55:8,21
56:9,13,17
57:4 58:16
60:3 61:20,25
offices 47:13
officials 52:8
52:20,22
offload 17:21
oftentimes 54:15
54:19 56:8
Oh 57:16
okay 4:13 5:17
29:16,22 32:10

34:12 37:17
39:5 40:11
41:11,19 42:16
44:21 45:13
57:17 58:22
61:4
old 7:13 19:9
25:17,17 28:14
31:5
on-body 18:4
once 3:16 8:15
21:15 26:10
56:18
ones 27:10
ongoing 5:11
7:17
open 3:12 10:3
10:23 48:20,22
48:25
opening 3:12
45:7,20
Operation 44:17
operations 19:4
opinion 48:14
49:7
opportunity 7:8
7:20 30:16
41:10 51:21
52:1 62:14
Oral 34:13
order 24:9 38:10
ordinance 45:12
organization
5:20 40:3
Osborne 43:10,11
outdated 21:15
Outer 33:24
outfit 26:17
overall 6:21
13:24
overrun 51:5
Oversight 6:1

P

p.m 1:11 3:3
41:6 62:18
pace 21:18
packets 10:6
page 45:15
Pages 1:7
Pamela 2:13 4:19
7:3 9:22 54:10

panel 5:21 7:5
52:2,25
Pannell 14:8
41:1,2,3,7,12
41:19
park 8:25 35:2
45:8
parking 8:5 9:7
20:12
part 23:19 24:21
26:6 61:13,15
particular 7:24
12:15 23:14
particularly
12:24
partnership 23:6
party 63:18
Passage 44:17
passion 52:16
pastor 34:1,6
patterns 15:21
pause 28:25
peace 40:23
42:14
pedestrian 46:24
pejorative 54:2
pending 48:19
pens 45:10
people 5:12 7:10
7:17,22,24,25
11:12,12 13:2
13:3,7,14,15
13:19,19 25:19
27:2,9 30:16
33:4,9,9,12
36:17,20,24
39:23 44:11,21
47:14 53:7,20
53:25
perception 53:24
perform 15:6
performing 11:19
Perkins 14:22
perpetrator
39:11
person 29:14
37:1,6 53:25
55:25 58:10
personnel 18:11
perspective 6:19
46:20
Peter 45:1

Peterson 41:20
41:20 42:4,19
Phase 33:2,4
phone 59:16
photos 47:2
PICCIONE 34:18
Piccone 34:18
piece 12:20 13:1
pieces 21:9
pillowcase 40:10
pilot 15:18 18:5
22:2 24:2 29:8
pinpoint 12:15
23:25
place 58:13
63:10
placed 57:11
plan 19:13 22:21
22:23 23:2
plate 29:9
plates 29:6
play 8:24
Plaza 16:19
plea 50:19,20
please 4:17 25:4
57:14,15
pleasure 5:9
plus 26:3
Plymouth 42:21
point 4:12,13
19:23 24:8
33:12 52:18
pointed 45:2,6,7
points 6:21
police 1:3 3:6
4:16 5:21 6:15
6:17,22,23 7:5
8:3 9:13,15
12:25 14:1
15:5,10,24
16:12,24 17:9
17:13,24 18:19
19:1 21:13
24:19 25:12,22
26:8 29:24,25
34:22,23 35:25
36:15,18,21
38:3,9 39:4
41:22,25 42:1
42:12 45:3,21
48:25 49:9,12
49:16,19 50:6

50:8,9,10,12
 50:21,25 51:8
 51:14 58:16
policemen 51:7
policies 11:22
 13:6 18:1
policy 13:8
 20:15 22:13
 45:21 46:3
polite 45:18
poll 31:14
pose 25:4 27:14
posed 6:5
positive 9:14
 13:15 14:4
 28:11
positive/nega...
 13:14
possible 56:2
post 16:5
posts 16:3
power 6:12
pray 6:20
prayer 3:12
precinct 10:8,9
 10:9 20:10
 25:6 33:22
 38:12,13 39:24
 40:2,13 42:3,4
 42:17,18,19,20
 57:5,24,24
precincts 16:2
 28:17 56:7,8,9
 56:12
prep 7:11 20:22
 21:6 33:11
preps 19:6 21:7
presence 43:2
present 2:11
 3:25 4:8 14:17
 31:12
presentation
 14:22 15:3
 18:11 20:4
 52:10
presented 52:14
presenting 14:23
president 25:6
pressing 41:9
 62:8
pretty 27:7
 42:25 46:12

55:7
principal 8:7,7
 8:16
principals 44:10
prior 12:6 21:14
 34:2
prioritizing
 21:17
privilege 5:3
proactive 18:25
probably 12:14
 22:1 26:8
 47:25 54:11
problem 26:25
 40:5,6 45:4,18
procedure 10:13
 10:20 12:23
procedures 11:21
 18:2
proceed 59:3,11
proceeding 62:18
proceedings 4:23
process 12:12
 15:24 17:20
 19:6 21:16
 31:23 32:21
 54:5 55:24
 56:1 59:1
 60:15,23 61:22
 62:7
processed 10:24
processes 18:21
 54:6
professional
 35:11
proficiency
 18:13
proficiently
 17:17
program 7:17
 44:5 49:24
programs 43:23
progress 18:6,16
progressively
 12:4
project 18:5,7
 18:15 24:22
 29:11 30:19
projects 22:2
 29:9
properly 48:7
property 18:10

proposal 61:1
prosecutor's
 7:18
protect 17:23
 36:15
protects 17:22
proud 49:20
provide 27:22
 55:15 59:14
provided 38:23
 58:10
public 9:15
 11:20,24 12:11
 12:11 15:12,14
 16:23 18:18
 19:11 21:20
 23:7 31:24
 33:10 47:12
 52:20 55:4,17
 63:8,23
publically 52:24
pulled 42:7
pulls 19:20
 20:10,11
push 35:11
put 12:10 19:2
 23:25 26:3,15
 26:15 30:19
 34:10 47:6
 49:1,25 56:21
puzzle 12:21

Q

quantify 11:10
 11:11
question 5:24
 11:4,15 12:17
 12:17 21:12
 23:6 25:7 26:7
 27:14 29:3
 31:1 37:7 38:6
 57:10
questions 6:5
 8:1 11:2 19:15
 22:12 24:14
 25:4 63:13
Quinn 2:15 4:22
quit 44:8
quite 6:5 16:15
 28:11 51:12
 54:14
quo 14:2

quorum 4:11 5:15
 31:4 34:8
 62:13,16

R

R 1:13 4:3,9
 63:7,22
radio 15:14
 16:23 20:22
 21:6
radios 17:11
 19:7 20:23
raise 49:2
raised 46:16
raising 53:20
ran 18:15
rare 52:5
rate 60:6
rationale 6:15
re-evaluated
 45:19
reach 39:18
 42:23
reaches 19:22
reactive 47:4
read 45:14 55:4
readily 54:14
 55:17
reads 29:6
ready 46:9
Ready-Op 19:3
real 9:3
really 8:8 13:24
 21:22 22:8
 30:6,11 31:14
 31:25 35:9
 38:20 43:22,25
 57:19,25 58:3
 59:9 62:10
realtime 18:24
 19:22 21:21
 24:22,25 29:10
reason 33:9
 47:23 54:19
 59:19
reasons 54:14,15
 54:23 60:11
reassure 39:19
receive 12:1
receiving 20:5
recognition
 29:10

reconvene 31:18
record 3:20 9:22
 34:10 44:24
 46:11 50:5
 54:8,11 59:19
 60:2 62:12
recorded 63:14
Recorder 2:15
recording 4:23
recovery 45:23
rectified 55:5
reduced 63:15
reduction 15:23
reference 5:25
 6:5,13,20 7:5
 7:7,9 9:13
 13:25 31:8
 41:16
referring 44:14
regarding 34:25
regards 25:8
 50:24
Reginald 3:23
regular 1:5 32:5
 32:7,12
reinforce 47:6
related 63:17
relates 12:22,22
 26:25 29:4
 44:13
Relations 25:7
relationship
 13:19 14:1
 28:22 53:15
relative 53:18
remark 50:10
remarks 52:4
remedial 46:5
remember 25:17
 45:11,25
remind 62:4
Renaissance 8:23
rep 53:6
replacement
 19:12 21:19
 22:21,23 23:2
replacing 19:9
report 5:18 9:18
 9:20,23 11:1
 14:15 23:17
 29:19,20 59:21
Reporter 63:8

reporting 4:25
 18:20
reports 31:3,4
represent 34:19
represents 6:12
request 20:20
 28:6 34:15
requested 39:25
research 60:14
resident 40:21
resolution 38:20
resolve 33:15
resource 34:25
respected 53:13
respectful 13:3
 34:15,16
respond 19:2
 37:9 43:21
 46:9
responsibility
 53:4
responsible 40:4
rest 50:23
retention 20:14
retired 6:18
 9:15 41:13
return 59:16
Reverend 33:25
reviewed 10:25
RFP 18:18
Rhodes 44:25
 45:1 46:12,18
 47:21 48:6
Ricardo 4:3
Richard 2:6 4:4
ride 29:5
right 5:5,6 9:23
 13:3 14:14
 19:24 21:24
 24:7 30:5,5,5
 30:14 37:24
 38:19 42:13
 45:10 47:8
 48:13 52:24
 57:1 58:14
 60:5
rights 52:11,17
River 8:25
Road 43:10
Robert 4:23
roll 3:18
rolled 13:16

rolling 41:23
 61:24
Ron 6:23 51:24
 59:25
room 3:9 29:23
 36:7 45:10
Roseville 13:12
ROTC 9:1
Rouge 8:25
roughness 49:14
Rules 46:4
run 12:24 22:6
 23:25 42:1
running 15:10
 17:15,15

S

sad 52:19
safe 43:16 44:17
safer 36:22
safety 11:24
 15:12,14 16:23
 18:18 19:11
 21:2,20 26:13
 43:6,8,24
 47:13
sales 45:13
Satchel 6:11
Saturday 32:15
 33:5
saw 37:1 38:8,24
 40:8 48:13
 49:7,14 51:11
saying 11:11
 37:13 41:24
 46:14 50:12
says 42:14 51:5
scalping 45:4
scare 41:24
Schaefer 40:3
schedules 33:4
scheduling 33:8
school 7:11,14
 7:17 8:6 9:10
 9:15 31:6
 33:11 43:6,8,9
 43:12 53:5
school's 9:6
schools 43:25
Scott 6:23 15:5
 27:2 51:24,24
 52:1,5 57:18

59:24,25,25
 62:2
scout 27:5 61:8
 61:11,12
search 22:4
seasonal 11:25
seat 26:4
seated 4:18,21
second 7:6
Secretary 2:3
 3:18,19,20 4:1
 4:6,9,18 5:16
 7:1 34:9 41:15
 62:8
section 23:16
 26:7
security 9:15
 15:11
see 3:7 11:5
 14:12 17:23
 19:18 20:24
 22:8 24:1 34:2
 35:6 36:25
 37:4,5 40:14
 41:25 42:8
 47:24,25 49:18
 50:17 54:6,7
 60:9,19,22
seeing 47:14,14
 50:16
seen 49:10,12
sell 48:9
send 60:17 62:5
senior 8:12
sent 62:5
sergeant 4:22
 14:18,22 38:14
 38:18 39:5
series 30:7,8
served 55:12
servers 16:1
service 4:25
 10:13,21 12:22
 13:1
services 15:4,23
 19:14 22:22
 28:8
servicing 11:20
session 31:10,15
 31:19 32:2,20
set 9:6 20:12
 43:8,14 63:11

SGT 2:15
share 9:4 41:11
 52:4
shared 7:6
sharing 35:15,17
Sharon 41:2
Shelby 2:6 4:4,5
 6:25 13:11
 19:16 20:21
 21:5 24:16
 29:3
Shell 14:18,19
 38:14,19 39:5
Shelly 6:16
Sheriff 6:8
shipping 8:9
shop 60:16
short 31:17
Shorthand 63:7
shortly 32:1
Shot 23:9,13
shots 23:8
shows 56:19
side 7:11 9:3
 15:23 22:20
 23:21 33:24
 43:13
siders 7:12
sidewalk 46:20
sight 13:6
simple 13:18
 25:7
Sims 14:19,20
sir 4:18 5:1,6
 5:16 12:15
 14:6,16 26:23
 27:20 37:10
 39:16 40:25
 43:3,22 46:8
 48:6 51:25
 52:3 57:1
 59:25
sit 27:9 49:1
site 17:22
sites 16:25
sitting 5:4
 22:24,24
Six 30:9
size 25:14
sized 27:9
Slay 35:18,19
 37:16,20 38:13

38:24
smaller 26:19,20
smile 42:8
Smith 48:10,10
 51:19,23
software 15:12
 15:21 18:18
 21:20
sold 38:2
solely 47:13
solicit 14:3
somebody 20:15
 52:6
somewhat 11:25
son 48:15
soon 17:3 45:8
sorry 14:20 18:4
 37:10 51:6,19
 57:14
sort 32:20 52:13
 59:9
sound 28:1 47:3
Southeastern
 53:4
Southfield 42:21
 43:15
space 26:1
speak 3:8,10
 14:5 21:4
 34:24 35:7
 44:12,13 46:20
 60:4
speaking 13:19
 27:17
special 39:9,22
 39:25
specialized
 16:12
specific 44:5
specifically
 12:23
speed 20:13
spelled 45:16
spirit 60:12
spoke 49:3
Spotter 23:9,13
SS 63:4
staff 4:16 5:23
 14:19 17:10,16
 28:8
Stair 5:5,6
 12:19 14:16

24:5 26:23
 29:20,25 30:3
 30:8,14,19
 35:17 37:9,10
 37:17 38:11,14
 39:5,13,16,20
 43:22 44:12
 47:7 61:10
stand 47:5 52:21
standards 26:13
 26:24 27:3
standing 18:25
 19:5 31:3
standpoint 39:25
start 30:4 46:14
started 21:15,16
 22:2 30:1,4
 43:7
starting 15:19
 29:10
state 1:1 18:20
 21:18 25:3
 48:20 53:6
 63:3,9
stated 50:10
States 6:3 45:11
station 19:18,21
 19:22 20:10
 38:9 39:4
stations 20:11
 24:25
statistics 27:21
status 14:2
stay 50:13
stays 28:20
steering 49:2
stenographic
 63:16
stenographically
 63:14
stepped 55:1
steps 55:21 57:2
stolen 29:7
stomping 7:13
stone 59:23
stop 48:25
stopped 42:6
 61:20
stopping 49:22
story 52:19
strategic 60:23
strategy 31:10

31:15,18
street 1:9 29:5
 37:25 38:1
 39:13,14 40:12
 45:5 47:15
streets 11:10
strength 52:16
stressed 48:23
strides 22:7
strong 48:4
 52:10
struck 45:12
stuck 35:3
student 8:6
students 7:16
 8:18
stuff 26:2
sub 45:15
subcommittee
 31:3
subsequent 46:5
subsequently
 35:2
substantiate
 58:19
sufficient 47:11
suggesting 60:8
 60:12
suggestion 50:18
suitable 9:10
summer 12:2
supervisor 19:18
supervisors
 19:25
support 14:21
 15:4,17,17,23
 16:7,10 17:8
 34:2 47:11
 53:1
supportive 47:7
sure 3:10 15:9
 17:14,17,25
 27:1 35:5
 38:20 41:10,17
 42:22 43:1,1
 43:22,25 55:11
 55:13 56:2
 57:3
surprised 51:13
surrounding
 56:12
suspend 5:13

sustained 10:18
 10:19 57:12,22
 57:25 58:2,6,8
 58:17
switchers 22:22
sworn 63:11
system 6:6 15:12
 15:15,15 16:23
 18:12 21:20
 24:19 28:7,20
systems 15:11
 17:19 18:4

T

tablets 23:22
take 13:17 15:19
 31:15 32:18
 34:17 35:22
 36:3,12 45:4
 50:18,20 55:20
 57:1,2 61:5,16
 62:1,14
taken 1:9 18:15
 63:10,17
talk 33:6 34:20
 34:21 38:15,18
 49:24 50:24
talked 7:19
 18:17 20:22
 33:5 36:16
 46:18
talking 13:2,3
 16:1 20:6
 24:23,24 27:17
 32:5 33:13
 35:20 37:11
 44:17 46:12
 54:24
taller 27:1,2
Taurus 25:21
 27:6
taxis 25:17,17
Taylor 2:7 4:7
 29:1
team 8:19,20,23
 8:24 17:6,12
 18:14
tech 14:21
technical 15:4,4
 17:10,10 19:14
 28:7 29:14
technologies

15:20 18:9
technology 15:7
 15:25 16:4
 19:1,17,25
 21:12,23 22:3
 22:15,16,20,20
 23:4,21,25
 26:11,17 29:4
 35:21,22 53:16
TEG 53:25
teletype 47:19
teletypes 47:6
tell 14:4 35:8
 42:12 48:21
 49:23 50:25
 55:17 59:17,17
ten 19:9
ten-year-old
 22:24
tend 12:2
term 57:19
terms 6:22 7:19
 7:23,25 8:2,8
 13:18 27:18
 30:17 31:21
 32:12 33:7,13
 34:6 39:10
 52:14,19 53:23
 56:3 61:18
testify 63:12
thank 3:19 4:18
 5:2,6,8,10
 9:21 14:5,6,9
 14:16,25 15:1
 20:3 21:12
 24:12,12 26:4
 26:5,22 28:3
 29:13,16 30:22
 33:20 34:12,12
 35:15,17 39:6
 39:7 40:25
 41:19 42:16,17
 43:2 46:8 48:5
 48:6 54:9
 59:23,24 60:6
 61:4 62:2,17
thing 8:12 36:12
 44:1,11 49:9
 60:17
things 12:25
 13:10 18:9
 19:1 21:9,17

27:5 47:3 53:3
 55:10 60:19,21
 60:25
think 7:6,15 8:4
 9:5 11:18,24
 11:25 12:1,9
 12:12,13,14,20
 12:24 13:4,10
 25:25 30:3
 31:20 32:15
 37:8 39:9,18
 44:16 45:19,20
 50:7,16 51:9
 52:15,15,16,16
 52:19 53:12,17
 54:1 55:7 61:5
thinking 9:10
 42:7 49:4
Third 1:9
thorough 59:10
thought 30:24
 35:13 49:7
 52:5
three 7:15 12:5
 22:13,14 32:19
 36:17 37:21
 38:1 42:6 43:6
 43:19
three-way 48:17
three-year 19:12
 23:1
Thursday 1:12
 3:2 31:7 32:16
 32:25 33:1
tickets 45:3,4
 45:13 46:21,22
 47:1,20,25
 48:2,9
time 6:17 8:14
 10:1 11:21
 12:8 15:2
 22:15 29:2,18
 32:15,22 33:18
 38:6 41:3,4,6
 45:22 53:21
 54:23 58:1
 60:7 61:25
 63:10
timeframe 31:9
 31:10 32:18
 33:3
times 45:1 60:16

timing 28:19
Tinsley-Talabi
 53:6
tired 11:13
title 34:16
today 11:15
 13:17 35:1
 37:12
Tolbert 51:10
Tolbert's 51:11
told 35:6 36:25
 37:21 38:3,5,9
 40:11 48:16
 51:3 52:12
tolerate 50:15
tonight 13:12
 53:4
top 6:16
totally 49:6,15
 50:1 56:3
touch 37:23
tower 16:25
towing 34:21,25
town 34:19
track 60:1 61:19
Tracker 18:12
traffic 46:25
 47:15
trained 28:8
training 12:20
 30:10,10 31:18
 32:21 34:22,24
tranquility
 40:23
transcript 60:1
 60:5 63:16
transcription
 63:15
transform 61:2
transmitting
 19:19
transpired 38:17
trickling 30:4
trophy 8:21,22
true 63:16
truly 6:24
truth 14:5 63:12
 63:12
try 12:21 13:12
 14:3 26:24
 40:24 45:3
 49:18 55:21

56:13,15,17
 57:3 59:9,22
 60:19,19
trying 32:20,21
 33:7,14 42:12
 42:14 45:17
 46:1,17 55:24
 56:21
Tuesday 5:19
 48:11
turned 23:15
TV 42:12 48:14
TV's 36:13
two 12:23 17:1
 18:6 22:12
 26:4 29:8,9
 30:9 34:14
 35:23 36:6
 51:21 53:3
 61:20,25
type 9:16 30:11
 30:18 31:20
 43:2

U

uncovered 59:23
understand 39:17
 40:16,19 41:17
 44:4 46:21,25
unfortunately
 11:16 38:21
unfounded 10:18
 54:1,2 57:11
 57:19 58:22
 60:2,4
United 5:20 6:3
 45:11
units 10:7 29:12
unjustly 55:13
unknown 10:5,6
 53:9 55:8,25
 56:8,9 57:11
 57:22,23 60:3
unnecessary 49:6
 49:14,15 50:1
unremarkable
 18:14,16
upbeat 13:24
update 9:20
 23:11 27:18
updating 15:13
upgraded 22:17

upgrading 17:20
 19:6,10 20:22
 21:23 22:14
upload 20:11
uploads 19:21
USC 45:24,25
use 19:5 25:15
 25:18 49:21
 57:19 59:4,20
user 16:11 21:9
users 16:2,5
usually 10:15
 34:24 58:21,21
 58:24

V

value 59:4
Vann 2:8 3:11,15
 4:7,8 11:4
 20:3,8,17
 31:11 32:22,25
 33:20
variables 11:17
 12:9
vehicle 26:3,11
 26:14 27:7
vehicles 21:5
 25:10,10,11,13
 25:22,24 26:9
 26:19,25 27:23
 27:24 29:7,7
 29:12 61:24
vehicular 46:24
vend 46:19
vending 45:5
vendor 17:7
vendors 22:19
version 17:20
versus 33:9
 45:14
victim 40:20
video 15:19
 16:14,20,20,22
 16:22 17:21
 18:17 19:21
 20:7,13 24:25
 27:25 28:17,18
 29:5 54:24
 56:25 60:20
video-cams 19:18
videotape 54:25
view 20:1 24:25

voting 52:11

W

waiting 22:25
 23:24
wall 8:21
want 3:4,7,10
 5:18 7:21 13:9
 14:7,12 22:15
 24:11 26:15
 28:23,25 33:3
 33:10 34:10
 35:14 36:3,14
 41:10 45:14,20
 47:3 48:15
 49:5 50:6,13
 50:21,25 54:6
 54:6 55:19
 58:22,23,25
 59:16,18,19
 61:13 62:4,12
 62:13
wanted 9:3 29:6
 30:13 31:12
 32:18 35:20
 39:22 40:17
 41:21 52:24
 53:2,3,8
wants 50:17
warm 42:25
warn 42:1
warrants 22:3,4
Warren 7:12,13
washed 49:4
Washington 14:18
 46:6,7,9,10,10
 48:4,6
wasn't 49:3
watch 15:20,21
 22:18
wave 42:25
way 9:6 26:18
 31:5 39:10
 50:7 52:14
 53:13,16 55:24
 56:2 58:3,19
 60:14,24
Wayne 6:7,18
 7:18
ways 61:5
we'll 19:9 21:21
 30:17 31:25

34:17 38:19
 41:10,16 42:22
 43:1
we're 11:11 12:3
 12:15 13:4
 15:12,18,25
 16:17 17:19
 18:4,18,24
 19:6,11,12,23
 19:24 20:6
 21:23 22:21,23
 23:2 24:3,10
 24:23,24 26:11
 26:16 28:1
 31:24 32:6,13
 32:16,20,21
 33:14 34:3,4
 39:24 40:1,24
 47:4,14 53:11
we've 3:8 12:5
 17:18 18:13,17
 22:6 39:25
 55:8
weather 42:24
Wednesday 38:5
week 32:24 34:24
 35:7 41:4 45:2
 62:5
weekly 3:5,16
weeks 30:9,10
 43:5
welcome 3:5,16
 7:20 8:13
well-trained
 12:25
went 11:22 28:8
 28:23 36:7
 37:3 38:9 39:2
 40:12
weren't 35:12
west 7:12
wet 49:5
White 4:10
Wilbourn 43:4,5
 43:13 44:7,13
Willie 2:4 3:17
 3:21 6:24
window 13:16
 36:6 49:2
windows 41:24
 49:5
winter 12:1

Winthrop 42:5
wireless 16:3
 20:12
witness 37:1,22
 37:22 38:2,24
 59:7,8 61:13
 63:11,14
Womack 1:13 4:24
 63:7,22
wonderful 35:9
wondering 35:21
 53:9
work 9:15 11:6
 27:10 28:1
 34:19 42:15
 51:1 56:20,22
working 6:18
 27:18 28:2,22
 40:22 44:8,10
works 14:18
worn 17:18
wouldn't 23:18
wow 13:20
writing 47:20,24
written 35:25
 48:2
wrong 50:12
wrongful 57:21

X

Y

Yeah 51:11
year 8:4 9:11,11
 9:25 10:4 12:6
 13:25 22:13
years 7:15 12:5
 13:7 17:19
 19:9,10 21:15
 22:14,15 43:6
 43:19 49:11,12
 49:16 50:3
yesterday 27:17
 47:9 51:3
York 49:8
young 6:19,20
 7:10,16,22,24
 7:25 8:5,20
 13:14,15,19
 16:17 33:12
 36:9 39:9
 41:25 42:9

Z

zone 43:8,16,16
zones 43:6

0

06-22-2018 63:25

1

1 1:7 33:2
10 21:15
10% 10:14
100 10:11
102 10:16,20
11th 10:9 33:22
 35:19
12% 10:19
121 10:23
12th 25:6 38:13
 39:24 40:1
13% 10:21
130 10:3
1300 12:6
1301 1:9
135 10:3
14% 10:13
15 21:15
15-C 35:4,6
1500 12:7 17:13
17% 10:19
1700 12:7
18 22:1,7
18% 10:18
187 10:4
19 49:12
1983 45:24
1988 45:25

2

2 31:10 33:4
 41:6
2:00 31:9,16
 32:1,7 41:6,9
 41:11 62:4
20 22:25
2000 12:8
2006 45:11,16,22
2007 12:6
2009 12:7
2015 1:12 3:2
 9:24 10:2,8,11
 10:16

206 10:17
21% 10:21
23 49:11
23% 10:13
24 21:19 22:7,9
24/7 17:4
26 1:12 3:2
2nd 10:9 31:7
 32:24 42:18
 45:15

3

3 35:24
3:00 1:11 3:3
 7:23 8:10 31:8
 32:5 33:6,8
 41:4
3:33 35:25
31% 10:13
37 50:3
38% 10:21

4

4:30 62:18
40 7:16 30:2
40% 10:18
41-2-3 47:20,22
410 45:15
42 45:24,25
43% 9:25
45% 10:4
47 30:4

5

5% 10:10
5:30 29:24
50/50 8:2
5251 33:23
55 9:25 10:4,11
57-years-old
 50:2

6

6 31:10
6:30 33:16
615 45:15
63 1:7

7

7 6:10
7% 10:9
7:00 5:19

78 40:3
7th 41:21 42:4
 42:19,19

8

800 15:15 16:23
8th 10:9

9

9 36:2
9% 10:8,22
90 11:1 20:18
 56:22
90-day 20:14
911 28:14
97 10:1
9th 10:8 33:23